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preface
 This workbook makes the study of accounting and financial analysis an enjoyable 
and	rewarding	learning	experience.	Students	learn	accounting	and	financial	analysis	by	 
systematically gathering financial and nonfinancial information to answer questions and 
make business decisions. The corporate annual report is the primary document used to drive 
the learning process. Students can select their own company or the instructor can direct the 
study and assign the same company for the entire class. Accounting terms and concepts are 
defined	and	illustrated	as	needed	to	support	the	student’s	decision-making	needs	throughout	
the workbook. The work is active and driven by the student’s need to answer questions as they 
relate to his or her inquiry. Upon completing this project a student understands how to use 
widely available accounting and related information to systematically answer business  
questions. Illustrative questions are: 


	 •	 Would	I	like	to	work	for	this	company?


	 •	 Should	I	use	this	company	as	a	supplier?	


	 •	 Is	this	company	a	solid	investment,	preliminary	analysis?


 This project is suitable for undergraduate and graduate students in accounting and finance 
courses.	The	learning	activities	stimulate	a	cross-functional,	integrated	application	of	busi-
ness	tools.	Workbook	tasks	illustrate	why	and	how	accounting	is	the	language	of	business	and	
must be integrated with nonfinancial information to make a business decision. Students are 
required	to	access	and	use	the	corporate	annual	report,	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	
(SEC)	Form-10K	and	website	analytical	tools	in	the	evaluation	of	their	selected	company.


	 The	learning	experience	is	active	and	student	driven.	Accessing	and	interpreting	infor- 
mation to arrive at a sound business decision drives the accounting and financial analysis  
learning	process.	We	have	taken	considerable	care	to	remove	all	roadblocks	from	the	 
learning process.


to the faculty member
 The challenge to link theory, practice and technology is ongoing. This workbook places 
you in position to meet this challenge in an easily managed format. The workbook instruc-
tions	are	self-directing	and	complete.	Students	assume	the	vast	majority	of	the	responsibility	
of the learning process in completing this workbook. As the instructor, you essentially take on 
a learning management role. You may have to respond to student questions when a company 
includes	an	atypical	disclosure	or	fails	to	provide	a	reasonable	disclosure.	We	suggest	you	use	
these student questions to demonstrate to the class that annual reports are not all the same. 


This workbook has very distinct features that we want to highlight:


 1. The workbook is designed for introductory and advanced students. Some  
	 	 students	may	have	to	reference	an	accounting	text	to	refresh	their	memory	 
  regarding certain accounting topics. The following questions are considered  
  the most difficult:


Chapter	3:	Notes	to	the	Financial	Statements	-	Questions	4	-14.


 2. A completed workbook for The Home Depot Company is available to  
  instructors upon request. 
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	 3.	 International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	are	weaved	into	the	workbook	to	 
  inform the students about the changes presently underway in financial reporting.


	 4.	 Grading	the	student’s	workbook	is	straightforward.	Students	are	required	to	 
	 	 answer	questions	throughout	the	workbook.	Our	experience	suggests	a	good	 
  evaluation of a student’s project can be measured by selectively grading questions.


 5. This workbook project is easy adapted to a presentation class requirement.  
	 	 Students	can	be	asked	to	present	and	explain	sections	of	the	annual	report	 
	 	 or		specific	elements	of	the	financial	statements.	This	requirement	can	be	accom-	
	 	 plished	as	a	team	or	individual	assignment.	Our	experience	shows	that	students		
  are confident and happy to present information about their selected company.


 This edition of the workbook builds upon the success of the 2nd edition, with two  
additions.	First,	companies	are	changing	the	way	they	provide	annual	report	information.	
There	is	a	distinct	trend	away	from	the	traditional	-	Annual	Report	to	the	Shareholders.	Now	
companies provide most of this information on their website, and satisfy financial reporting 
requirements	with	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	(SEC)	Form	10-K.	The	3rd	edition	 
of the workbook accommodates these changes, as well as retains the same structure as the  
2nd edition for those companies that continue to provide the traditional paper copy of the 
annual report to the shareholders.


	 Second,	International	Financial	Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	continue	to	influence	financial	
reporting measures and disclosures. This edition retains the skill development around general-
ly	accepted	accounting	principle	(GAAP),	yet	calls	attention	to	present	International	Financial	
Reporting	Standards.	This	content:	a)	brings	to	life	IFRS’s	influence	over	financial	reporting	
and	b)	provides	a	level	of	learning	about	IFRS	that	can	distinguish	a	business	school	graduate	
in	the	market	place.		Adding	IFRS	to	this	edition	conveniently	weaves	an	international 
perspective into the curriculum.  


 The 3rd edition of the workbook requires NO additional work by the faculty member.  
You will find we modified the workbook to improve its readability and help the student 
achieve a higher level of learning.


to the student
 The annual report is the most widely distributed company report provided to sharehold-
ers and the general public. Company leadership uses this report to communicate nonfinancial 
and financial information about its company. By completing this workbook you learn how 
to systematically evaluate a company’s annual report and gather the information needed for 
making a business decision. 


 Your work begins by answering why you are investigating the annual report of a  
particular	company.	For	instance,	is	this	company	a	potential	employer	or	is	it	a	potential	 
customer?	Next,	you	learn	how	a	company	uses	the	annual	report	as	a	marketing	tool	 
and as a means to communicate its corporate strategy. Then you become more acquainted 
with	the	annual	report’s	structure.	Following,	you	learn	how	to	use	financial	statements	 
and widely available data in a systematic framework to make business decisions. In  
completing	this	project	you	build	a	powerful	skill-set	that	should	serve	you	well	through- 
out your career.
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CHAPTER 1:  introduction


    elcome to the annual report project. You are beginning the process of 
    learning a great deal about accounting, the language of business and  
	 	 	 	 financial	analysis.	We	suggest	you	read	the	Preface and the To the Student 
    section before moving forward. These sections recap the learning process. 
Completing this workbook will open your eyes to the business world in ways you may have 
never imagined. You will develop the skill and confidence to systematically study a company 
using the corporate annual report and related databases. You will build a solid foundation 
and	framework	for	business	decision-making.	ENJOY!


Select a Company and Gather Documents
 Your instructor may identify the company or you may be allowed to select your own 
company in completing this workbook. The company must be publicly traded. A publicly 
traded	company	is	one	that	has	its	shares	traded	(bought	and	sold)	on	the	New	York	Stock	 
Exchange	(NYSE),	American	Stock	Exchange	(ASE)	or	National	Association	of	Securities	 
Dealers	Automated	Quotation	Stock	Exchange	(NASDAQ).	


 You will find two types of company annual reports. Both are suitable for this workbook. 
First,	publicly	traded	companies	must	comply	with	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission	
(SEC)	and	financial	reporting	regulations.	The	SEC	requires	all	companies	to	file	annual	
reports	in	SEC	Form	10-K.	The	annual	report	recaps	the	operating	environment	and	business	
conditions	of	the	company	and	includes	audited	financial	statements.	The	SEC	uses	this	infor-
mation	to	monitor	company	performance.	An	example	of	The	Home	Depot’s	2008	SEC	Form	
10-K	can	be	found	at:	http://www.homedepotar.com/.	(Select	DOWNLOAD	ANNUAL	 
REPORT	(pdf)	to	download	a	PDF	copy	of	The	Home	Depot’s	SEC	Form	10-K.)			


SEC	Form	10-K	requires	specific	non-financial	and	financial	company	reporting.


	 •	 Go	to	-	http://www.sec.gov/answers/form10k.htm	for	a	general 
	 	 description	about	SEC	Form	10-K	requirements.


	 •	 Go	to	-	http://www.sec.gov/about/forms/form10-k.pdf	for	a	detailed	 
	 	 description	about	SEC	Form	10-K.


The	SEC	requires	the	following	company	information:


	 •	 Item	1:	Business—general	discussion	of	the	company’s	business	environment.
	 •	 Item	1A:	Risk	Factors	
	 •	 Item	2:	Properties
	 •	 Item	3:	Legal	Proceedings
	 •	 Item	4:	Submission	of	Matters	to	a	Vote	of	Security	Holders
	 •	 Item	5:	Market	for	Registrant’s	Common	Equity	and	Related	Stockholder	Matters
	 •	 Item	6:	Selected	Financial	Data;	
	 •	 Item	7:	Management’s	Discussion	and	Analysis	of	Financial	Condition	 
  and Results of Operations
	 •	 Item	7A:	Quantitative	and	Qualitative	Disclosures	About	Market	Risk
	 •	 Item	8:	Financial	Statements	and	Supplementary	Data
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	 •	 Item	9:	Changes	in	and	Disagreements	With	Accountants	on	Accounting	 
	 	 and	Financial	Disclosure


	 •	 Item	9A:	Controls	and	Procedures	


	 •	 Item	10:	Directors	and	Executive	Officers	of	the	Registrant,


	 •	 Item	11:	Executive	Compensation,	


	 •	 Item	12:	Security	Ownership	of	Certain	Beneficial	Owners	and	Management,	and	


	 •	 Item	13:	Certain	Relationships	and	Related	Transactions;	and	(n)	


	 •	 Item	14:	Principal	Accountant	Fees	and	Services.


 Second, companies must provide an “annual report to shareholders” when they hold 
an	annual	meeting	to	elect	directors.	Go	to	-	http://www.sec.gov/answers/annrep.htm	for	a	
general description about the annual report to the shareholders. This annual report, typically, 
serves as a marketing and reporting tool. The report opens with a letter from the Chief  
Executive	Officer,	followed	by	selective	financial	data,	product	information,	employee	success	 
stories, market segment information and more. The company annual report, typically, is print-
ed on quality paper, filled with colorful pictures, with suggestive words like “great,” “growth,” 
“powerful,” spread throughout. Often, these sections of the annual report are designed to 
positively	influence	the	reader’s	opinion	about	the	company,	long	before	financial	analysis	
begins. The audited financial statements and related notes follow in the report, neatly  
formatted. Developing, printing and distributing the annual report to shareholders is  
an	expensive,	time	consuming	process	for	a	company.	


     You are likely to find one or a combination of reporting structures when searching  
for a company to use with this workbook. Some companies meet the annual report to the 
shareholders	requirement	by	including	SEC	Form	10-K	with	a	letter	from	the	Chief	Executive	 
Officer.	Others	include	the	letter	with	a	mix	of	selective	financial	data,	pictures	and/or	product	
information.	(The	Home	Depot	2008	annual	report	serves	as	an	example	of	how	companies	
use	SEC	Form	10-K	as	a	component	the	annual	report	to	the	shareholders.	Go	to:	The	 
http://www.homedepotar.com/.)		Yet,	some	companies	simply	provide	SEC	Form	10-K	 
and	publish	the	Chief	Executive	Officer	letter	and	other	information	on	the	company	 
website in compliance with the annual report to the shareholders requirement.


					We	designed	this	workbook	to	accommodate	your	company’s	reporting	structure,	regard-
less of how it satisfies annual report requirements.  You simply need to search the annual 
report records provided by your company. The workbook’s questions point you to the  
documents that provide the information you need to develop a meaningful response.


SELECT COMPANY


 Introductory accounting and finance students should avoid banks, insurance compa-
nies, public utilities, and other regulated industry companies, as well as large conglomerates. 
Regulated industries are often affected by unique accounting rules and practices. The financial 
statements	may	contain	elements	that	are	confusing,	even	to	the	experienced	professional.	
Large	conglomerates,	on	the	other	hand,	often	participate	in	complex	reporting	practices,	 
and	therefore	may	be	difficult	to	analyze.	We	suggest	choosing	a	company	that	is	interesting	 
to you and of a reasonable size.


 There are two ways to locate a publicly traded company that provides a separate annual 
report.
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Method 1:  


Use this method to locate the appropriate information for a specific company. 


	 First,	identify	the	company.	Second,	go	to	the	company	website	and	search	for	links	to	its	
annual	report	(generally	through	the	“investor	relations”	link).	When	you	locate	the	annual	
report, follow the instructions to open or print the document. If no link is found to the  
annual report, it is unlikely that it is a publicly traded company. 


Method 2:


Use this method to explore the many different companies and industries in  
selecting a company.


	 We	suggest	working	through	the	New	York	Stock	Exchange	(NYSE)	Euronext	Website	 
to	select	a	company.	The	NYSE	is	the	largest	equities	marketplace	in	the	world.	The	 
exchange	lists	the	world’s	top	large	and	medium	sized	companies.		


	 The	NYSE	Euronext	website	directions	are	logical	and	intuitive.	The	following	 
procedure will help you use the site to locate a company.


	 •	 Go	to:	http://www.nyse.com/home.html,


	 •	 Select	–	Listings	(located	on	upper	left	side	of	page),	-	select	-	Listings	Directory,	


	 •	 Select	–	NYSE	or,


	 •	 Type:	http://www.nyse.com/about/listed/lc_all_name.html	to	go	directly	 
	 	 to	the	NYSE.


 Using this guide you can select a company by searching by name, region, or industry.  
The	menu	options	guide	you	to	the	respective	company’s	website.	For	example,	if	you	select	
an industry from the menu tab, four search options appear:  Industry, Supersector, Sector or 
Subsector.	Feel	free	to	explore	and	select	a	company	that	you	want	to	study.		


GATHER DOCUMENTS


 Now gather the necessary documents. You will find most company documents download 
in	a	PDF	format.	We	suggest	you	save	the	documents	in	an	electronic	format.	This	step	makes	
it easier for you to find and print the information to respond to workbook questions. Down-
load and save the following: 


	 •	 SEC	Form	10-K	


	 •	 Annual	Report	to	Shareholders:	Many	times	a	company	simply	labels	the	annual 
  report to shareholders as the Annual Report. As discussed above, some companies 
	 	 meet	the	annual	report	to	the	shareholders	requirement	by	providing	SEC	Form	 
	 	 10-K	to	its	shareholders.		If	this	is	the	case	you	will	not	need	to	download	 
	 	 separately	SEC	Form	10-K.	


	 •	 Next,	complete	Chapter	1:	Select	a	Company	and	Gather	Documents	–	Question	1 
  below to begin your company analysis. Immediately following Question 1 is an  
	 	 example	of	Question	1	completed	for	The	Home	Depot	2008	Annual	Report.	The 
	 		 example	shows	the	specific	types	of	material	you	need	to	complete	the	company	 
  analysis.
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Chapter 1:  Select a Company and Gather Documents—Question 1  
Identify with an “X” the primary source of data for this project.


Annual report to shareholders


SEC Form 10-K and the company website.


Fill in the page numbers from the annual report where the following are located.


Required information for  
this workbook project.


Financial Highlights


•	 Not	absolutely	necessary,	but	 
 very common in annual report  
 to shareholders.


•	 Not	in	SEC	Form	10-K.	May	be	 
	 posted	on	company	web	site.	 
	 If	so,	put	WEB	in	Page	No.	box.


•	 If	not	available,	put	N/A	in	Page 
	 No.	box.


Management’s	Discussion 
and	Analysis	(MD&A)


Statement	of	Cash	Flows


Income	Statement


May	be	labeled	Statement	of	Earnings


Balance	Sheet


May	be	labeled	Statement 
of	Financial	Position


Statement	of	Change	in 
Stockholder’s	Equity


Chief	Executive	Officer	Letter


•	 May	be	labeled	President’s	CEO 
	 or	other	top	official’s	message	or 
	 Letter	to	the	Shareholders.


•	 Not	in	SEC	Form	10-K.	Likely	posted 
	 on	company	website	if	SEC	Form	10-K 
 used to satisfy the annual report to 
	 shareholders	reporting	requirements. 
	 If	so,	put	WEB	in	Page	No.	box.


Notes	to	Financial	Statement


Put	range	of	pages,	for	example,	47-58.


Investor	and	Company 
Information	or	Shareholder 
Information


Report of Independent 
Accountants	or	Independent 
Auditors’	Report


Five-	or	Ten-Year	Summary 
of	Operating	Results


Item	6	in	SEC	Form	10-K


Management’s	Report 
(Responsibility)	on	Internal 
Control	over	Financial 
Reporting


Item	9A.	Control	and	Procedures	in	 
SEC	10-K


Required information for  
this workbook project.


Page 
No.


Page 
No.


Annual report to shareholders with letter from Chief Executive Officer and 
SEC Form 10-K as part of the annual report to shareholders. The annual  
report may include additional general company information.
(The	Home	Depot	2008	annual	report	serves	as	an	example	of	how	companies	use	 
SEC	Form	10-K	as	a	component	the	annual	report	to	the	shareholders.	Go	to:	 
The	http://www.homedepotar.com/	and	open	the	pdf	file.)








•	 Print	the	respective	page(s)	where	you	find	the	above	information.	Turn-in	printouts		
 with your annual report analysis. It is helpful to have both a hard copy and an  
 electronic copy to complete workbook questions.
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Chapter 1:  Select a Company and Gather Documents—Question 1  
Identify with an “X” the primary source of data for this project.


Example	for	The	Home	Depot	2008	Annual	Report:  http://www.homedepotar.com/


Annual report to shareholders


SEC Form 10-K and the company website.


Fill in the page numbers from the annual report where the following are located.


Required information for  
this workbook project.


Financial Highlights


Management’s	Discussion 
and	Analysis	(MD&A)


Statement	of	Cash	Flows


Income	Statement


Balance	Sheet


Statement	of	Change	in 
Stockholder’s	Equity


Chief	Executive	Officer	Letter


Notes	to	Financial	Statement


Investor	and	Company 
Information	or	Shareholder 
Information


Report of Independent 
Accountants	or	Independent 
Auditors’	Report


Five-	or	Ten-Year	Summary 
of	Operating	Results


Management’s	Report 
(Responsibility)	on	Internal 
Control	over	Financial 
Reporting


Required information for  
this workbook project.


Page 
No.


Page 
No.


Annual report to shareholders with letter from Chief Executive Officer and 
SEC Form 10-K as part of the annual report to shareholders.X


F-1
F-2


15-24


28 27


32


29 50


30 25


31 51 
and	2nd		 


to last pg. 
of	AR


No	page 
numbers, 


1st	3 
pages  
of	AR








	 With	a	printed	copy	of	the	respective	company	information	and	an	electronic	 
copy	of	the	annual	report	and/or	SEC	Form	10-K	saved	on	a	disk,	you	are	set	to	begin	 
your analysis.


Identify Why You Selected This Company
 There are numerous reasons why you would select a particular company. The typical  
reason is to make a decision regarding whether to purchase or sell its stock. This is, in fact,  
a	very	narrow	view.	For	example,	you	may	have	a	particular	interest	in	a	company	because	 
of a hobby or you may be looking at a company as a possible employment opportunity or 
both.	For	this	situation	you	would	be	most	interested	in	learning	more	about	the	industry	 
and	the	company’s	long-term	profit	potential.	Another	reason	might	be	that	the	company	is	 
a major contributor to the economic success of your community. Or it could be that you are  
a	customer	of	this	company	and	are	interested	in	its	potential	for	long-term	success.	Recognize	
that there are numerous reasons why you would select and study a company’s annual report. 
Answering why you selected a particular company helps build a solid focus to the learning 
process of accounting and financial analysis.
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Chapter 1:  Identify Why You Selected This Company—Question 1 


	 A)	 What	is/are	your	motivation(s)	or	interest(s)	in	selecting	this	company?


	 	 [See	above	for	examples]


	 B)	 What	question(s)	are	you	seeking	to	answer?


  [For	example,	is	the	company	profitable?		Can	the	company	change	and	develop	new	products
	 	 and	services	to	be	competitive?		Would	I	invest	in	this	company?	Will	the	company	provide	 
	 	 rewarding	career	opportunities?		In	chapter	5	you	will	have	pulled	together	the	financial	and	 
	 	 nonfinancial	information	to	answer	these	question(s).]


A)


B)








Company and Annual Report Essentials
 This section of the workbook asks you to identify specific information about your  
company. You will typically find the answers to most questions on the first few pages  
or on the back inside pages of the annual report.
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Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 1 


 What	is	the	company’s	complete	name?


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 5 


 Which	stock	exchange	lists	your	company?


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 2 


 What	is	the	address	of	your	company’s	corporate	headquarters?


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 3 


 Identify	the	company’s	website	address.


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 4 


 Identify	the	telephone	#	and	e-mail	address	of	your	company’s	Investor	Relations	Dept.


Telephone	number:


E-mail	address:
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Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 6 


 What	is	your	company’s	stock	exchange	trading	symbol?


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 7 


 What	is	your	company’s	Standard	Industrial	Classification	(SIC)	and	sector?	Run	a	
	 search	on	“Standard	Industrial	Classification,”	and	the	classification	and	code	will	be 
	 identified.	Your	company	may	list	more	than	one	SIC	code	number.	The	first	listed	is 
	 considered	the	primary	SIC	for	the	company.


	 	 For	example,	search—The	Home	Depot	SIC—bring	up	a	listing	of	sources. 
	 	 InvestorWords	is	one	website	location	option:
	 	 http://www.investorwords.com/cgi-bin/stocksymbol.cgi?ticker=HD. 
	 	 Move	down	the	page	and	you	will	find:


	 	 SIC	Code:		5211


	 	 Sector:	 Basic	Materials,	Construction,	Retain 
	 	 Industry:		Lumber	and	other	building	material


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 8 


 Locate	the	Board	of	Directors	listing.	How	many	board	members	does	your	company	have?


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 9 


 How	many	of	the	directors	are	company	employees,	labeled	inside	directors?	And	how
	 many	are	non-company	directors,	labeled	outside	directors?	Why	does	a	company	want 
	 and	need	outside	directors?


	 (Inside	and	outside	directors	are	typically	identified	as	such	by	their	title	and	company.)








 The previous series of questions provides basic company information. All are building 
blocks of a complete study of a company through the annual report.


Company Strategy and Business Environment
	 Evaluating	a	company	for	a	specific	reason(s)	and	seeking	answers	to	questions	 
is a systematic process. You are now starting that process. Begin by learning about the  
company’s corporate strategy and business environment. 


 A company is likely to communicate a growth, stability, or retrenchment corporate  
strategy.	Most	popular	is	a	corporate	growth	strategy.	A	user	can	identify	a	corporate	growth	
strategy	when	management	announces	a	decision	to	increase	sales	and	capital	expenditures.	
Growth occurs when leadership strategically directs corporate financial resources in one way 
or in a combination of ways: 


	 •	 Horizontal growth—Walgreens	opens	new	stores	on	busy	intersections.	


	 •	 Vertical growth—Wal-Mart	controls	distribution	to	stores	and	retailing.	


	 •	 Concentric growth—The	Home	Depot	sells	to	contractors	and	the	general	public.


	 •	 Conglomerate growth—General	Electric	is	in	medical	equipment,	financial	
  services, lighting, jet engines, and many more industries.


 A stability	strategy	is	one	where	change	is	slow	and/or	problems	loom	on	the	horizon.	
Two	types	of	stability	strategies	are	practiced:	(1)	pause	and	proceed	with	caution	or	(2)	no	
change. You can identify this strategy when management talks about challenging economic 
times on the horizon or hints of waiting for market opportunities to become clear.


 A retrenchment	strategy	is	exactly	what	logic	tells	us	it	is.	The	company	requires	a	new	
business model that can bring it back to life. Drastic action is necessary or business failure 
is imminent. A user can identify a corporate retrenchment strategy when numerous product 
lines are eliminated, plant layoffs are announced, or there is talk of general business closure.


	 Chief	executives	use	the	chairman’s	message	to	communicate	the	company’s	strategy.	 
A reader will learn about events that have unfolded throughout the year. Attention is often  
directed to revenue growth, capital improvements, dividend strategy, impact of new account-
ing	pronouncements,	new	product	information	and/or	market	dynamics.	Overall,	the	chief	 
executive	attempts	to	make	the	company	appear	to	be	in	position	to	take	advantage	of


12


Chapter 1:  Company and Annual Report Essentials—Question 10 
 Leadership	addresses	the	stockholders,	typically,	once	a	year	at	the	annual	stockholders’
	 meeting.	Identify	where	and	when	this	occurred,	as	reported	in	your	annual	report.
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Chapter 1:  Company Strategy and Business Environment—Question 1 


 Review	the	chairman’s	message	of	your	company’s	annual	report.	Does	it	appear	to	be
	 uplifting	or	somewhat	apologetic?	Identify	phrases	that	support	your	position.


Chapter 1:  Company Strategy and Business Environment—Question 2 


 Check	below	the	one	primary	company	strategy	identified	in	the	chairman’s	message.
	 Support	your	answer	with	phrases	found	in	the	chairman’s	message	that	pointed	you 
	 to	the	identified	corporate	strategy.


GROWTH:				Vertical	____				Horizontal	____					Concentric	____				Conglomerate	____
Stability	____				Retrenchment	____					


Phrases	to	support	your	conclusion:


market	opportunities	and	generate	wealth	for	the	shareholders.	Emphasis	is	often	placed	 
on	word(s),	such	as,	growth,	expansion,	improvement	in	products	and	services	and	market	
opportunities.


 As a user, always read the chairman’s message with full knowledge that it is designed  
to bias your thinking. The message is designed to communicate a robust and successful  
business and minimize the challenges faced by the company. Consume this letter as  
a starting point for your critical analysis. Question whether or not the company has  
a	history	of	success	as	emphasized	the	chief	executive	officer.	Does	the	company	have	 
the	financial	resources	to	move	as	the	chief	executive	officer	may	be	suggesting?	








 The last step in learning more about your company is to complete a brief overview of 
events	taking	place	in	society.	All	business	decisions	must	be	made	in	the	context	of	broad	
social,	political,	economic,	and	technological	concerns.	For	example,	all	businesses	are	influ-
enced by technological advance. Ask yourself what technology advances are on the horizon 
and if they may alter the corporate strategy of your company. The music industry, as an  
example,	failed	to	anticipate	the	impact	of	technology	in	regard	to	file	sharing	and	down- 
loading music. 


	 A	social-political	concern,	for	example,	is	a	human	rights	violation.	Currently,	the	United	
States is working to widen trade channels throughout the world. If, however, human rights 
violations surface in a specific region, then trade may be restricted. This situation may impact 
your company if suppliers or customers are located in a region of government imposed  
restricted trade. 


	 Identifying	external	issues	that	may	affect	your	company	is	not	a	one	time	study.	Business	
professionals must read journals and business publications that address social, political,  
economic, international topics and more. Schools and local libraries hold a wealth of  
databases to support this information need. You will use these resources to learn more about 
companies	and	industries	throughout	your	career.	Knowing	how	to	use	these	sources	is	 
a skill you can sell to potential employers. 


	 The	following	serves	as	a	representative	example	of	databases	that	hold	a	vast	amount	of	
company and industry specific information.  These databases can help you address business 
questions	and/or	issues	throughout	your	career.


	 •	 ABI/Inform	(FirstSearch)	–	electronic	database
	 •	 Business	&	Industry	(FirstSearch)	–	electronic	database


 You can effectively and efficiently learn more about a company’s corporate strategy and 
business	environment	by	reading	selective	documents.	SEC	Form	10-K,	Item	1	requires	sub-
stantial disclosure about a company’s industry, business model, competitors, market segment, 
and product offerings. 
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Chapter 1:  Company Strategy and Business Environment—Question 3 
 Briefly	summarize	the	company’s	discussion	found	in	Item	1	of	SEC	Form	10-K.


Type	of	business:


Major	business	segments:


Primary	customers:


Other:


Primary	products	and/or	services:
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Chapter 1:  Company Strategy and Business Environment—Question 4 


 Identify	broad-based	social,	political,	economic,	and	technological	concerns	that	may
	 affect	your	company.	Put	N/A	if	one	of	the	categories	does	not	apply.


Social:


Technological:


Political:


Other:


Economic:


	 •	 Business	Source	Elite	(EBSCO)	–	electronic	database
	 •	 Factiva/Dow	Jones	–	electronic	database
	 •	 LexisNexis	Academic	–	electronic	database
	 •	 Hoovers	Handbook	of	American	Business	–	hard	copy	book
	 •	 Web:		www.money.msn.com		
	 •	 Standard	&	Poor’s	Industry	Surveys	–	hard	copy	book	
	 •	 U.S.	Industry	&	Trade	Outlook	–	hard	copy	book	


The table below lists several industry and business issues to watch for:


 To complete the following question, you need to simply watch the news and read  
the press with eyes and ears open to broad social, political, economic, and technological  
concerns that may impact your company. 


Supplier	relationships Customer	relationships


Political	environment Competitive	environment


Environmental	concerns Social	responsibility


Employee	and	labor	unions Special	interest	groups


Trade	associations Infrastructure








Wrap-up
 You have now completed the information gathering stage of the annual report project. 
The learning activities provided a structured process to gaining a balanced perspective about 
your	company	and	the	industry(s)	in	which	it	operates.	Financial	analysis	is	only	meaningful	
when the corporate strategy is known and key business environment issues are clear. 


 This foundation of knowledge will enable you to efficiently and effectively draw insight 
from the annual report. That is, you will be a more critical consumer of annual report data as 
you gather more facts in support of your business decisions. Another way to look at it is that 
you will now be on a steep level of learning as you go through the financial and nonfinancial 
sections of the annual report, building support for your decisions. 


 You are now in position to specifically identify the company’s corporate strategy, beyond 
simply relying on the chairman’s message. 
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Chapter 1:  Wrap-up—Question 1 
 After	further	review	of	additional	information	you	should	now	be	confident	in	identifying	
	 the	one	primary	company	strategy,	beyond	the	insight	provided	by	the	chairman’s	 
	 message?		


	 Check	below	the	one	primary	company	strategy	identified	in	the	chairman’s	message	 
	 and	all	other	supporting	documents.	Support	your	answer	with	phrases.	


GROWTH:				Vertical	____				Horizontal	____					Concentric	____				Conglomerate	____
Stability	____				Retrenchment	____					


Phrases	to	support	your	conclusion	from	information	gathered	from	the	chairman’s	message. 
Item	1	of	the	SEC	Form	10-K	and	other	insight	gained	from	completing	Chapter	1.
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CHAPTER 2:  annual report structure


    sers of financial information may notice that most corporate annual 
    reports have similar reporting structures. There are two main reasons for  
	 	 	 	 this	likeness.	First,	consistency	in	the	reporting	structure	allows	a	seasoned		
	 	 	 	 or	novice	user	to	easily	locate	information.	Knowing	where	to	look	improves	 
    the usefulness and value of the information. Second, disclosure rules require 
specific types of information to be included in the annual report. This assures investors and 
others that companies will address similar topics, as well as provide supplemental disclosure 
where necessary.


	 You	read	and	interpret	the	key	sections	in	the	annual	report	at	this	time.	Knowing	what	 
to look for and where to find specific information in the annual report is a skill all business 
professionals should possess.  


Financial Highlights
	 Frequently,	the	annual	report	to	the	shareholders	opens	with	a	presentation	of	financial	
highlights or selected statistical data. This typically includes performance measures such as 
comparative	sales,	net	earnings,	per-share	information,	and	possibly	some	key	financial	ratios	
or other company statistics over time. Bar and pie charts visually enhance the presentation  
of selected highlights. A company’s financial highlights represent a subset of more detailed 
information that follows in later sections of the annual report. 


	 Financial	highlights	are	presented	early	in	the	report	in	an	effort	by	management	to	make	
the	company	look	as	good	as	possible.	The	message	may	or	may	not	be	an	accurate	reflection	
of the company. Therefore, do not rely on this information alone to make a decision about 
the	company.	View	this	information	as	a	biased	introductory	summary.
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Chapter 2:  Financial Highlights—Question 1 


 Review	the	financial	highlights	of	your	company’s	annual	report	to	the	shareholders.	
	 Identify	net	sales	or	revenues,	net	income,	basic	earnings	per	share	(BEPS),	and	total	 
	 assets	for	the	current	and	preceding	years.	These	are	the	most	common	values	included	 
	 in	financial	highlights.	If	your	company	reports	something	different,	simply	cross	out	an	 
	 item	here	and	recap	what	is	reported.	SEC	Form	10-K	does	not	provide	financial	highlights.	 
	 You	may	find	this	information	on	the	company	website.	If	not	available	put	N/A	in	the	first	 
	 row	of	boxes.


Categories Current Year One Year Prior Two Years Prior


Net	income


Net	sales	or	revenues


Basic	EPS


Total	Assets








General Company and Marketing Information
	 Management	uses	the	annual	report	to	the	shareholders	to	market	the	company’s	products	
and services, and enhance its image. You will find information throughout the annual report 
to shareholders about company volunteer activities, employee relation programs, and research 
and	development	success,	for	example.	These	voluntary	disclosures	are	intended	to	improve	
the company’s image. You are likely to find that colorful pictures and fancy charts and graphs 
are used to communicate a variety of messages. If this information is not available in the  
annual report, then search the company website and respond accordingly.


18


Based	on	your	preliminary	review,	is	your	company	performing	better	than,	equal	to,	or	less	
favorably	than	in	the	prior	year?	Briefly	explain.


Chapter 2: General Company and Marketing Information—Question 1 


 Look	for	pictures	of	product	and	people	that	are	colorful	and	send	a	positive	company	
 signal to the reader. 


Category Message


Example:		Volunteer 
Activities


Ongoing	and	contributing	to	the	success	of	the	community


What	is	the	broader	message	from	this	information?
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Chapter 2:  Management’s Discussion and Analysis—Question 1 


 Results	of	Operations:		


	 Identify	the	primary	drivers/issues	that	explain	current	and	future	results	of	operations	 
	 discussed	in	the	MD&A.	For	example,	the	gross	profit	percentage	increased	because	of	 
	 improved	buyer/supplier	relations	resulting	in	greater	overall	operating	performance.	 
	 Or	an	increase	in	operating	expenses	because	of	increased	fuel	costs	reduced	profits.	 
	 List	the	six	major	drivers/issues	of	performance	you	find	in	the	MD&A	section	of	the	 
 annual report.


Management’s Discussion and Analysis
 The management’s discussion and analysis of results of operations and financial condition 
(MD&A)	report	is	considered	by	many	to	be	one	of	the	most	important	components	of	the	
annual report. As a result, we have seen a significant increase in the length of this section,  
a trend that is likely to continue under the current climate of financial reporting. 


	 The	SEC	requires	management	to	discuss	the	company’s	prior	and	current	performance	so	
that readers can gain insight into what management perceives the direction of the company to 
be.	This	is	important	to	the	user	for	two	reasons.	First,	it	makes	explicit	how	successful	leader-
ship has been at achieving the corporate strategy and points to the company’s future strategic 
focus. Second, this information helps the user of the annual report compare and contrast the 
company’s corporate strategy to its available resources. 


	 With	the	MD&A	report	management	is	expected	to	address	three	important	areas:	results	
of operations, capital resources, and liquidity. Typically the report begins with an analysis of 
prior,	current	and	future	results	from	operations,	i.e.	performance.	Next,	in	the	MD&A,	is	a	
disclosure	about	cash	availability.	A	short-term	cash	perspective	is	discussed	with	disclosures	
on	liquidity.	A	long-term	cash	perspective	is	discussed	with	disclosures	on	capital	resources.		


1)


2)


3)


4)


5)


6)








Reports by Management
	 Management	now	files	additional	reports	in	the	annual	report	to	be	in	compliance	with	
reporting	requirements	mandated	by	the	Sarbanes-Oxley	(SOX)	Act	of	2002.	The	reports	 
are	designed	to	make	explicit	that	management	is	responsible	for	internal	controls	and	 
the financial statements. The reports are also intended to help the user recognize that the  
independent accountant is not responsible for internal controls and the financial statements.  
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Liquidity:
Recap	what	you	find	about	your	company’s	liquidity	in	the	MD&A	section	of	the	annual	report.	
Look	for	information	about	the	ability	of	the	company	to	satisfy	short-term	cash	needs	and	the	
ability	to	generate	operating	cash	flows,	for	example.


Capital	Resources:
Recap	what	you	find	about	your	company’s	capital	resources	in	the	MD&A	section	of	the	 
annual	report.	Look	for	information	about	cash	reserves	and	credit	availability.	For	example,	
your	company’s	MD&A	section	may	have	a	disclosure	about	an	established	lined	of	credit	to	
fund future growth.


Chapter 2:  Reports by Management—Question 1 


 Review	the	Management’s	Report	(Responsibility)	on	Internal	Control	over	Financial	
	 Reporting	in	your	company’s	annual	report.	Answer	the	following	questions.


Who	is	responsible	for	maintaining	the	 
internal controls designed to provide  
reasonable	assurance	that	the	books	 
and	records	reflect	the	transactions	of	 
the	company?
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Independent Auditors’ Report
 An outside accounting firm issues the independent auditors’ report to the shareholders 
and board of directors of the client corporation. It must be signed and dated by the account-
ing firm that conducted the audit. This report provides important information and should 
be read before one interprets the financial statements. All material reporting deficiencies are 
disclosed in the report and should be taken into account before an analysis of the financial 
information.	Most	audit	reports	are	divided	into	three	paragraphs,	each	addressing	an	 
important audit issue. 


Record	the	statement	that	identifies	 
management’s	conclusion	about	 
internal controls.


Who	audited	management’s	assessment	
of	the	effectiveness	of	your	company’s	
internal	control	over	financial	reporting?


Chapter 2:  Independent Auditors’ Report—Question 1 


 Review	the	Independent	Auditors’	Report	of	your	company’s	annual	report	and	answer	
	 the	following	questions.	


Who	was	the	company’s	 
auditor and where is it  
located?


Who	is	responsible	for	the	
preparation of and information 
within	the	company’s	financial	
statement?


What	is	the	responsibility	 
of	the	auditor?


The	audit	was	conducted	 
in	accordance	with	what?


What	was	the	opinion	of	 
the	auditor?








Financial Statements and the Related Notes
 A significant component of the annual report is devoted to a presentation of the  
company’s financial statements, which normally includes a consolidated statement of income, 
a consolidated balance sheet, a consolidated statement of cash flows, and a consolidated statement of 
change in stockholders’ equity.	(Consolidated	statements	include	the	results	of	the	parent	and	
all	subsidiaries.)		The	purpose	of	each	financial	statement	is	addressed	as	follows:


	 •	 Statement of income. Reports a company’s financial performance over 
  a period of time.


	 •	 Balance sheet. Reports a company’s financial position on a particular day.


	 •	 Statement of cash flows.	Reports	a	company’s	cash	inflows	and	outflows	
  over a period of time.


	 •	 Statement of change in stockholders’ equity. Reports changes to stockholders’ 
  equity accounts over a period of time. 


	 Each	of	these	financial	statements	will	be	addressed	in	Chapter	3,	as	well	as	the	notes	 
to the financial statements. Notes to the financial statements are just as important as the state-
ments	themselves	because	they	provide	a	more	detailed	explanation	of	the	numbers.


Five- or Ten-Year Summary of Operating Results
	 The	SEC	requires	a	company	to	include	a	five-year	summary	of	selected	financial	and	 
nonfinancial information in the annual report. Summary information gives the investor and 
other users the opportunity to identify emerging trends and better understand where the  
company	has	been	and	where	it	is	going,	in	one	convenient	location.	Many	analysts	use	this	
report	to	identify	pending	weaknesses	or	strengths.	Often,	companies	extend	the	five-year	
comparative to include ten years of information.


	 Analysts	and	other	users	should	exercise	caution	when	they	review	these	statistical	 
summaries. This report is not covered by the auditor’s opinion. In addition, management 
selects the information included in this report. Information presented in the summary may  
be	extensive	for	some	companies	and	limited	in	others.	The	five-	or	ten-year	summary	typi-
cally includes comparative sales and earnings information as well as measures of financial 
position such as total assets, working capital, total debt, shareholders’ equity, and selective 
nonfinancial information. 
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Chapter 2:  Five- or Ten-Year Summary of Operating Results—Question 1 


 Identify	the	major	components	provided	in	the	five-	or	ten-year	summary.	Summarize	the	
	 insight	provided	by	each.	Look	for	stable,	increasing	or	decreasing	trends.	Consistent,	 
	 slightly	improving	performance	signals	management	has	control	of	the	business.	 
	 Inconsistent	performance	signals	management	does	not	have	control	of	the	business.


Component


Example:		The	Home	Depot 
Statement	of	Earnings	Data


Summary of Insight


Sales	and	earnings	have	grown	significantly	over	time. 
Operating	expenses	are	growing	at	an	increasing	rate.








Shareholder Information
 Annual reports close with a section devoted to investor and company information  
(discussed	in	Chapter	1).	Although	this	section	is	included	at	the	back	of	the	annual	report,	
the placement should not diminish its importance. 


Wrap-up
 Observe that the annual report is a tool that frames past successes and failures and  
future activities within a company’s strategic focus. This section of the workbook stepped you 
through the many components of the annual report. The vast majority of annual reports will 
have	similar	sections.	Each	company	will	deliver	its	information	differently,	however.	It	is	 
the consumer’s responsibility to apply this information in support of his or her individual 
decision-making	needs.	Critical	analysis	occurs	when	you	compare	the	qualitative	informa-
tion gathered up to this point with the financial information you pull together in Chapters 3 
and	4.	This	is	where	a	sound	grasp	of	the	language	of	business,	accounting,	serves	the	user	 
in decision making. 


 Your distinct challenge is to determine if the company has the financial resources to move 
forward	with	its	corporate	strategy.	For	you	to	evaluate	this	issue,	a	command	of	the	financial	
statements is essential. The following chapters build the tools to follow through with a sound, 
systematic framework for financial analysis. 
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CHAPTER 3:  financial statements


The Balance Sheet
   he balance sheet provides a snapshot of a company’s financial position at the 
	 	 	 close	of	its	fiscal	year.	The	Home	Depot’s	balance	sheet,	for	example,	is	dated	 
	 	 	 February	1,	2009,	and	provides	two	years	of	comparative	information,	as	 
	 	 	 required	by	the	SEC.	A	company,	typically,	selects	a	year-end	close	that	coincides 
with	slow	or	stable	business	activities.	For	example,	most	retailers	select	a	January	year-end	
close because the holidays have passed and inventory holdings have been reduced. 


Classification of the Balance Sheet


	 Balance	sheet	accounts	(or	elements)	are	generally	classified	to	facilitate	readability	and	 
analysis. The three major classifications include assets	(resources),	liabilities	(claims	against	
those	resources),	and	shareholders’ equity	(residual	ownership	in	the	assets).	But	while	US	
GAAP	requires	a	classified	or	unclassified	format	based	on	liquidity,	International	Financial	
Reporting	Standards	(IFRS)	allow	flexibility	in	reporting.	As	an	example,	an	IFRS	based	 
balance	sheet	may	list	non-current	assets	first	(as	illustrated	in	Unilever’s	2010	Annual	 
Report	for	non	current	and	current	assets)	and	then	follow	with	liabilities/equity	or	equity/
liabilities.  Also note how Unilever references the specific note # that relates to each balance 
sheet element.


T
Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 1 


 Identify	the	date	shown	at	the	top	of	your	selected	company’s	balance	sheet.	


Current Year Prior Year


Does	the	company’s	fiscal	year	follow	the	calendar	year?			Yes	____			No	____
If	not,	why	do	you	think	it	is	different?








Below,	we	discuss	the	structure	of	a	US	GAAP-based	balance	sheet.		


Assets


CURRENT ASSETS


 Current assets represent a company’s resources that will ordinarily be consumed during 
the upcoming fiscal year. Often these include the following:


 Cash and Cash Equivalents: Cash in the balance sheet, and for the purpose of reporting 
cash	in	the	statement	of	cash	flows,	includes	cash	on	hand,	cash	in	savings	and	checking	 
accounts,	and	cash	invested	in	highly	liquid	short-term	instruments	with	original	maturi-
ties	of	three	months	or	less.	Highly	liquid	instruments	include	high-grade	commercial	paper,	
money market funds, or U.S. government agency securities, each with original maturities  
of 90 days or less. 


 Short-term Investments including Current Maturities of Long-term Investments: The 
balance	sheet	account	short-term	investments	includes	a	company’s	investment	in	the	stocks	
and	bonds	of	other	companies	or	investments	in	certificates	of	deposit	(or	the	like)	with	 
maturities beyond 90 days and less than one year. These are investment opportunities that  
appeal	to	a	company	for	the	short-term	or	investments	that	were	once	classified	as	long-term	
but will mature in the upcoming year. 
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Unilever Group
Consolidated	Balance	Sheet	Excerpt	as	at	31	December


£ million £ million


Goodwill	9
Intangible	assets	9
Property,	plant	and	equipment	10
Pension	asset	for	funded	schemes	in	surplus	19
Deferrred	tax	assets	17
Other	non-current	assets	11


Total non-current assets


Inventories	12
Trade	and	other	current	receivables	13
Current	tax	assets
Cash	and	cash	equivalents	14
Other	financial	assets	14
Non-current	assets	held	for	sale	27


Total current assets


2010


13,178
5,100
7,854


910
607


1,034


28,683


		4,309
4,135


298
2,316


550
876


12,484


2009


12,464
4,583
6,644


759
738


1,017


26,205


3,578
3,429


173
2,642


972
17


10,811
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 Accounts Receivables, Net: Current	assets,	in	addition	to	cash	and	short-term	investments,	
will generally include amounts due from other companies or individuals. These amounts are 
identified as accounts receivable in the balance sheet and correspond to the sale of merchan-
dise or services on credit. The granting of credit is a business decision made by the company 
to	enhance	sales	revenue.	Without	this	purchase	alternative,	many	individuals	or	firms	would	
shop elsewhere.


 Merchandise Inventories: A company’s inventory of goods is most likely the largest 
component of current assets but also the most illiquid. Inventories can be acquired from 
other manufacturers and then resold, as in the case of The Home Depot, or inventory can  
be	manufactured	and	sold	by	a	single	company.	When	they	are	manufactured	and	sold	by	the	
same company the balance sheet may report three inventory accounts: raw materials, work  
in	progress,	and	finished	goods	inventory.	General	Motors	Corporation	is	an	example	of	a	
company that would utilize three inventory accounts in its accounting system.


NONCURRENT ASSETS


 Noncurrent assets represent a company’s resources that have value beyond the  
current year. 


 Property and equipment (at cost): Generally these elements are the most significant 
noncurrent assets in terms of dollar value. They are the assets that companies commit millions 
of dollars to and when purchased, are often referred to in the business press as a company’s 
capital expenditure.	Capital	expenditures	represent	company	costs	that	will	provide	benefits	
over more than one period. 


	 Property	and	equipment	or	property	(land),	plant	(buildings),	and	equipment	(PPE)	 
are generally reported at cost less any accumulated depreciation. And since most companies 
use	straight-line	depreciation	a	reader	can	gain	insight	into	the	approximate	average	remain-
ing	life	of	Plant	and	Equipment	(exclude	property	because	it	is	nondepreciable)	with	a	 
simple computation.


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 2 
 Review	the	current	asset	section	of	your	selected	company’s	balance	sheet.	Explain	why	  
	 the	order	of	individual	items	begins	with	cash.	In	your	opinion,	would	it	be	more	or	less	 
	 appropriate	to	order	these	items	according	to	dollar	magnitude?		Explain.








 If you recall from above, US GAAP requires that all depreciable assets be recorded at cost 
(less	accumulated	depreciation).	That	being	said,	no	subsequent	upward	revaluations	can	be	
made	should	an	asset	increase	in	value	over	time.	IFRS,	however,	allows	companies	to	revalue	
entire classes of assets. This means a class of assets can increase to fair market value, by  
essentially	using	a	fair	market	value	approach	to	measurement	under	IFRS.	


 Long-term investments: Long-term	investments	are	recorded	when	a	company	invests	in	
another company’s debt or equity. If management intends to hold these investments beyond 
one year, these investments must be categorized under the heading long-term investments. 
Occasionally	management	reclassifies	long-term	investments	as	market	conditions	change	
from	one	period	to	the	next.


	 Long-term	stock investments	can	be	accounted	for	using	four	approaches:	(1)	cost,	(2)	
fair	value,	(3)	equity,	or	(4)	consolidation.	The	equity	method	of	accounting	(known	as	
Investment	in	Associates	under	IFRS)	is	used	when	a	company	owns	approximately	20-50%	
of	the	voting	shares	of	another	company	and	is	said	to	have	“significant	influence”	over	that	
company.	Consolidation	is	used	when	a	company	owns	greater	than	50%	of	the	voting	shares	
of	another	company.	A	careful	review	of	the	investments	footnote	(following	the	financial	
statements)	may	identify	the	types	of	investments	and	their	related	valuation.	On	occasion,	 
if the reported investment is minimal, the note will provide little assistance. 
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Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 3 


 Review	your	company’s	balance	sheet	(or	SEC	Form	10-K)	and	compare	accumulated	
	 depreciation	to	the	historical	cost	of	Plant	and	Equipment	(PE)	using	the	following	ratio.


Is	the	investment	in	fixed	assets,	on	average,	relatively	recent?	If	not,	can	we	assume	that	these	
assets	will	be	replaced	shortly?	


Compute	the	following:
Accumulated	depreciation	/
Plant	and	Equipment


Percentage	of	Asset	Life	Remaining:
•	 High	percentage	means	older	assets
•	 Low	percentage	means	newer	assets
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 Notes receivable: A note receivable is a written promise to pay a specific amount or 
amounts	at	some	point	forward.	Most	notes	receivable	are	loans	but	can	also	result	from	 
a	conventional	sales	arrangement	that	allows	for	extended	terms.	Occasionally,	accounts	
receivable	can	be	converted	to	a	note	receivable	to	extend	the	original	terms	of	the	agreement,	
generate a rate of return for the holder of the note, and legally strengthen the agreement  
between the parties. 


 Intangible assets, including costs in excess of fair value of net assets acquired (Goodwill): 
Previous classifications included assets that were generally tangible in nature. Intangible  
assets, however, generally lack physical substance and possess a greater degree of uncertainty 
in regard to future benefits than do tangible assets. They represent rights, privileges, and 
competitive advantages, backed by a legal agreement. Nonetheless, intangible assets, when 
properly created or acquired, can enhance the profitability of the enterprise for years to come. 
Examples	of	intangible	assets	include	patents,	copyrights,	trademarks,	organizational	costs,	
and goodwill. Intangible assets with definite lives are amortized under both US GAAP and 
IFRS.	Intangible	assets	with	indefinite	lives	are	not	amortized	but	tested	for	impairment	if	
conditions	warrant	under	GAAP	and	IFRS.		Generally,	note	#1	to	the	financial	statements	 
will provide clarification in regards to the types of intangible assets that are present.


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 4 
 Since	property,	plant,	and	equipment	(PPE)	and	long-term	investments	in	stock	represent	
	 a	company’s	investment,	why	do	we	distinguish	between	them	in	the	balance	sheet?		
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Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 5 


 Review	the	noncurrent	asset	section	of	your	company’s	balance	sheet.	Are	any	intangible	  
	 assets	listed?	If	so,	identify	the	types	of	intangible	assets	and	the	percent	of	total	assets	 
	 that	the	intangible	assets	represent.


If	this	company	were	to	be	acquired	by	another	company,	would	the	intangible	assets	influence	
the	purchase	price?	Explain	your	answer.


Intangible	Asset	1:


Intangible	Asset	2:


Intangible	Asset	3:


Total	Intangible	Assets	÷	Total	Assets	=


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 6 


 Now	review	your	company’s	total	assets	for	the	most	recent	year.	What	percentage	of
	 total	assets	is	current?		Noncurrent?	


Current Noncurrent


Should	companies	have	a	greater	investment	in	current	assets	or	noncurrent	assets,	 
or	does	it	depend	on	the	nature	of	their	business?		Explain	your	answer.
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Liabilities


CURRENT LIABILITIES


	 Current	or	short-term	liabilities	are	obligations	that	will	be	satisfied	in	the	upcoming	year.	
Often these include the following:


 Accounts Payable: Accounts payable, also known as trade accounts payable, represent 
amounts owed to other companies as a result of goods, services, materials, supplies, and so  
on acquired throughout the year.


 Accrued Salaries and Related Expenses: The recognition of accrued salaries and related 
expenses	results	from	the	application	of	accrual	basis	accounting.	Accrual	accounting	requires	
revenues	to	be	recognized	when	earned	and	expenses	when	incurred.	The	actual	receipt	of	 
or	payment	with	cash	is	not	essential	to	the	recognition	of	revenues	and	expenses	in	the	 
accounting records. 


 Income Tax Payable: Income	taxes	payable	represents	an	estimated	liability	that	is	gener-
ally	satisfied	with	periodic	payments	by	the	corporation	to	several	taxing	authorities.	Income	
tax	payments	are	based	on	an	estimate	of	corporate	pretax	income.	As	estimates	change	with	
the passage of time, so will the periodic installments paid by the firm. Any estimated liability 
should be reported at the close of the fiscal year.


NONCURRENT LIABILITIES


Noncurrent liabilities will be settled at some unspecified point or at points beyond one year.


 Long-term debt (excluding current installments): Long-term	liabilities	generally	represent	
the most significant obligation for the corporation. Although this obligation does not affect  
a firm’s current liquidity, ultimately it becomes payable. Thus, there is significant concern  
with regard to the payment of ongoing interest and the ability to retire the obligation when  
it	becomes	due.	Long-term	capital	leases,	mortgage	obligations,	pensions	and	other	retirement	
benefit	obligations	are	examples	of	long-term	liabilities.	The	notes	to	the	financial	statements	
provide	insight	into	the	nature	and	terms	of	long-term	debt.	


 Deferred income taxes: Deferred	income	tax	liabilities	and	assets	represent	future	income	
tax	obligations	or	future	income	tax	benefits	as	a	result	of	past	events.	They	arise	when	 
generally	accepted	accounting	principles	(GAAP)	and	the	Internal	Revenue	Code	conflict	 
with	regard	to	the	timing	of	revenues,	expenses,	gains,	and	losses.	The	resulting	differences	 
are	temporary	(in	most	cases),	but	nonetheless	they	create	a	reporting	difference	between	tax-
able	income	and	financial	income.	Timing	differences	occur	when	revenues,	gains,	expenses,	
or	losses	affect	financial	reported	income	in	one	period	but	taxable	income	in	another	period.	
Note	that	deferred	income	taxes	are	calculated	using	only	enacted	tax	rates	under	US	GAAP	
but	enacted	or	substantially	enacted	tax	rates	under	IFRS.	This	means	that	companies	that	 
follow	IFRS	apply	new	tax	rates	and	laws	earlier	than	under	US	GAAP.		








32


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 7 


 Review	your	company’s	balance	sheet.	Does	it	report	a	deferred	tax	asset?	A	deferred	
	 tax	liability?	If	so,	are	the	deferred	tax	assets	and/or	liabilities	reported	as	current	or	 
	 noncurrent?	


*Note:	If	your	company	reports	a	current	deferred	tax	asset	(liability),	it	will	realize	an	income	
tax	benefit	(obligation)	in	the	next	accounting	period	because	of	a	previously	reported	event.


If your company reports a noncurrent	deferred	tax	asset	(liability),	it	will	realize	an	
income	tax	benefit	(obligation)	in	future	accounting	periods	(beyond	the	next)	because	 
of a previously reported event.


Deferred	tax	asset?			Yes		or		No	 Current	or	Noncurrent*


Deferred	tax	liability?			Yes		or		No	 Current	or	Noncurrent*


Shareholders’ Equity


 Equity represents the net assets of a corporation. This concept can be compared to own-
ing	a	house	(asset)	with	an	outstanding	mortgage	note	(liability).	If	the	house	is	valued	at	
$150,000 and the payoff on the mortgage note is $90,000, then the equity in the house is 
$60,000. A company’s balance sheet is viewed in much the same way. It is composed of many 
assets,	a	variety	of	liabilities,	and	a	residual	interest	(equity)	in	those	assets.	The	relationship	
between	the	three	items	defines	the	balance	sheet	equation	(assets	=	liabilities	+	equity).	


	 Furthermore,	an	inverse	relationship	exists	between	a	company’s	debt	and	its	equity.	 
If equity increases relative to total assets, then debt decreases proportionally. The greater  
the equity component in a balance sheet, the less pressure there is on the organization  
to	cover	related	interest	expense	and	generate	a	profit.	


 Stockholders’ equity is generally divided into two categories: contributed capital and 
earned capital. Contributed capital is recognized when a company acquires assets through 
the	sale	or	exchange	of	common	stock.	When	this	occurs,	companies	recognize	additional	
contributed	capital	in	the	balance	sheet	as	well	as	an	asset	or	reduction	in	an	existing	liability.	
Most	often	the	asset	received	is	cash,	but	occasionally	a	building	or	equipment	can	be	received	
as	well.	Companies	also	have	the	flexibility	to	settle	existing	debt	obligations	with	the	 
issuance	of	common	shares.	Knowing	the	definition	of	the	following	five	terms	is	necessary	 
to understand contributed capital. 


	 	 •	 Authorized	shares


	 	 •	 Issued	shares


	 	 •	 Outstanding	shares


	 	 •	 Par	value	per	share


	 	 •	 Treasury	shares
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 The authorized shares establish the ceiling on the total number of shares that may  
be issued by the company. The Articles of Incorporation identify this number, and it can be 
exceeded	only	if	the	corporate	charter	is	amended.	The	issued	number	of	shares	represents	 
the shares sold over time. The number of shares outstanding can be less than or equal to  
the number of shares issued. If the number of shares outstanding is less than the number  
of shares issued, the company has reacquired some of its own common stock. Companies  
do this to enhance future earnings per share, reduce total future dividends paid, support  
executive	compensation	programs,	or	help	fend	off	hostile	takeovers.	When	a	company	 
purchases its own stock it is known as treasury stock. Par value per share controls the legal 
capital	of	the	firms.	Review	this	concept	in	a	recent	accounting	text.


	 The	paid-in-capital	account	represents	the	excess	of	selling	price	per	common	share	 
over	par	value	per	share	(IFRS’s	identifies	over	par	amounts	as	a	share	premium.).	Because	
company stock is sold periodically, the selling price will often vary depending on market  
conditions.	Thus,	paid-in-capital	can	accumulate	in	different	amounts	with	each	public	 
offering of the firm. 


 The other component of shareholders’ equity is called earned capital or retained 
earnings.	Earned	capital	(retained	earnings)	represents	the	accumulated	earnings	of	that	
company since its inception, less any dividends paid to the company’s shareholders. 


	 When	a	company	begins	operations,	earned	capital	(retained	earnings)	is	zero.	 
With	the	passage	of	time,	earnings	are	reported	and	dividends	are	distributed.	As	a	result,	
retained earnings may be positive or negative. A positive measure indicates that the company 
has	attained	some	level	of	profitability	(net	income)	and	has	distributed	less	than	those	 
earnings to shareholders. Negative retained earnings suggest that the company has sustained 
net	losses	over	time	or	paid	out	dividends	in	excess	of	profits	achieved.	There	is	no	relation-
ship between retained earnings and a company’s cash position. Remember that retained  
earnings are a subset of equity, and equity supports all assets.


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 8 


 Identify	the	information	that	relates	to	the	stockholders’	equity	section	of	your	company’s	  
	 balance	sheet.	


Par	value	per	share	of	common	stock?


Number	of	common	shares	authorized?


Number	of	common	shares	issued?


Number	of	common	shares	outstanding?


Number	of	treasury	shares	held	by	the	company?
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Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 9 


 Answer	the	following	questions	relative	to	the	stockholders’	equity	section	of	the	
	 balance	sheet.	


*	If	No,	then	dividends	were	paid	(or	declared)	by	your	selected	company	or	certain 
	 events	took	place	during	the	year	where	the	accounting	for	the	events	directly	 
 affected the retained earnings account.


By	what	amount	did	retained	earnings	increase	 
or	decrease	from	the	prior	year?


Was	the	increase	or	decrease	in	retained	earnings			 Yes	or	No* 
equal	to	the	company’s	current	year	net	income 
or	net	loss?	


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 10 


 List	(write-in)	each	financial	statement	element	as	shown	in	your	company’s	balance	sheet.		


 Assets Liabilities Stockholders’ Equity


	 Finally,	should	you	encounter	the	element	minority interest in stockholders’ equity, this is 
an	indication	that	your	company	owns	less	than	100%	of	another	company,	known	as	the	
“investee	company”.	ASC	810	(SFAS	No.	160	pre-codification)	now	prohibits	minority	interest	
from being classified as equity. As a result, it will be reported between liabilities and equity as 
a	standalone	element.	IFRS,	however,	permit	minority	interest	to	be	reported	as	a	component	
of equity.  


Elements of the Balance Sheet


	 As	you	reviewed	the	balance	sheet	you	saw	that	specific	accounts	(labeled	financial state-
ment elements), such as cash, receivables, building, equipment, accounts payable, and income 
taxes	payable,	had	dollar	values	assigned	to	them.	These	amounts	represent	the	account’s	 
carrying or book value	at	the	close	of	the	fiscal	(calendar)	year.	
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* Note again that additional paid in capital is known as share premium	in	IFRS	based	financial	statements.


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 11 


 Identify	the	combined	carrying	values	(dollar	amounts)	of	the	following	selected	account	
	 groups	taken	from	your	company’s	balance	sheet:


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 12 


 Identify	the	three	major	balance	sheet	accounts,	for	example	accounts	receivable,	
	 accounts	payable,	inventory,	etc.	that	changed	the	most	from	the	prior	year.	What	events	 
	 might	explain	these	changes?		Working	to	explain	why	these	changes	occurred	contributes		
	 to	a	greater	understanding	about	a	company.		


Current	Assets	


Net	Fixed	Assets


Intangible	and	Other	Noncurrent	Assets


Current	Liabilities	


Long-Term	Liabilities


Common	Stock


Additional	Paid	in	Capital*


Retained	Earnings


Other	Equity	Components


Example:	
Account	Receivable	


Example:	
An	increase	in	accounts	receivable	should	coincide	 
with	an	increase	in	sales,	i.e.,	a	10%	increase	in	sales	would	
explain	a	10%	increase	in	accounts	receivable.	If	accounts	
receivable	are	increasing	and	sales	decreasing,	the	signal	 
is	unfavorable.


    Increase 
  Current Prior or Decrease 
 Account Groups Year Year (in dollars)


 Account Explanation
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Importance of the Balance Sheet


	 The	activity	of	preparing	a	common-sized	balance	sheet	is	the	beginning	of	the	financial	
analysis phase of studying a company. The balance sheet serves as a data source for several 
important	measures.	Measures	are	whole	dollar	amounts.	Measures	must	be	standardized	 
into ratios to help the user compare results and performance overtime and across companies. 
To	prepare	a	common-sized	balance	sheet,	all	accounts	are	standardized	as	a	percentage	of	
total assets. 


	 There	are	two	distinct	take-a-ways	from	the	process	of	preparing	a	common-sized	balance	
sheet.	Financial	analysis	is	both	an	art	and	a	science.	For	the	art	side	to	come	into	play	the	
user	must	have	a	sense	about	the	data.	Preparing	and	reviewing	the	output	of	a	common-sized	
balance sheet builds this sense about the company’s financial position. Once the user has 
a sense about the company’s financial position, he or she is in a better position to critically 
review	and	interpret	detail	financial	ratios.	Practice	and	experience	are	the	best	teachers	for	
blending the art and science of financial analysis.


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 13 


 Prepare	a	common-sized	balance	sheet	(expressed	in	percentages)	using	the	following	
	 account	groups	shown	in	your	selected	company’s	balance	sheet.


Current	Assets


Net	Fixed	Assets


Intangible	and	Other	Noncurrent	Assets	


Total Assets


Current	Liabilities


Long-Term	Liabilities


Common	Stock


Additional	Paid	in	Capital


Retained	Earnings


Other	Equity	Components


Total Liabilities and Stockholders’ Equity


    Increase or Decrease 
  Current Prior (current year %
 Account Groups Year Year minus prior year %)


100% 100%


100% 100%
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Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 14 


 Identify	the	three	balance	sheet	groups	from	question	13	above	that	changed	most	
	 significantly.	Within	each	of	these	groups,	identify	the	primary	balance	sheet	element	that	   
	 drove	this	change.		What	events	might	explain	these	changes?	


Current	Assets 
(Example	–	sales	increased	by	22%,	thus	accounts	receiv-
able	increased	by	approximately	22%)


 Group Name Explanation


 The user turns to the balance sheet for two pieces of specific information. The balance  
sheet provides information concerning a firm’s liquidity and solvency on a particular day. 
These	concepts	are	introduced	in	this	chapter	but	more	fully	developed	in	Chapter	4.	


	 Liquidity	analysis	involves	a	comparison	of	a	company’s	short-term	assets	and	short- 
term	liabilities.	All	companies	are	required	to	address	liquidity	issues	in	the	Management’s	 
Discussion	&	Analysis	(MD&A)	section	of	the	annual	report.	Liquidity	measures	indicate	 
a company’s ability to meet its current maturing obligations, which must be satisfied in  
the	next	12	months.


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 15 


 Did	your	company	become	more	or	less	liquid	when	comparing	this	year	to	last	year?


 Current Year Prior Year


Current	Assets	minus	Current	Liabilities	=		


Explain	why?


Current	Assets	minus	Current	Liabilities	=
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	 Measures	of	solvency	refer	to	a	company’s	ability	to	meet	future	principal	and	inter-
est	payments	on	its	long-term	debt.	The	greater	the	amount	of	debt	(financial	leverage),	
the	greater	the	fixed	cost	(interest	expense)	associated	with	the	debt.	Many	companies	have	
shown	an	uncanny	ability	over	time	to	manage	this	fixed	cost.	Success	in	this	area	can	 
be advantageous to the shareholder. A large amount of debt is necessary and typical in  
rapidly growing companies. A large debt load, however, also signals the company may  
have difficulty surviving turbulent periods. 


Chapter 3:  Balance Sheet—Question 16 


 Did	your	company	increase	or	decrease	its	financial	leverage	when	comparing	total	debt	
	 to	total	stockholders’	equity	from	this	year	to	last?


 Current Year Prior Year


Total	debt	÷	Total	stockholders’	equity	=		


Explain	why?


Total	debt	÷	Total	stockholders’	equity	=
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	 Interestingly,	IFRS	only	require	two	years	of	comparative	financial	reporting	across	all	
financial statements.


Format of the Income Statement


 The income statement is generally divided into two sections: operating and nonoperating. 
The operating	section	of	the	income	statement	includes	revenues	and	expenses	that	corre-
spond	to	the	principle	operations	of	the	company	(i.e.,	day-to-day	operations).	The	combina-
tion	of	operating	revenue	and	operating	expenses	leads	to	a	reported	measure	of	operating	
income or operating loss. 


1	Colleen	Cunningham,	“Will	Revamped	Financial	Statement	Benefit	Valuation?”	Compliance	Week,	February	24,	2009


The Income Statement or Statement of Earnings
 The income statement, also labeled the statement of earnings, measures a company’s  
performance	over	a	specified	period	of	time.	For	this	reason,	the	statement	is	titled	for	a	 
period	of	time—for	example,	the	year	ending	February	1,	2009.	The	statement	is	different	
from the balance sheet because it is a cumulative record of activity for a month, quarter,  
multiple quarters, or one year. Creditors, investors, and many others use the income statement 
as a measuring stick of how a company has performed, where it appears to be heading, and 
what	its	future	cash	flows	will	be.	US	GAAP	requires	that	the	income	statement	be	presented	
using	a	single-step	or	multiple-step	format.	IFRS,	however,	do	not	require	a	particular	format.	
Further,	expenses	can	be	grouped	according	to	function	or	nature	rather	than	simply	function	
under US GAAP. Function refers to the primary activities, such as selling goods, providing ser-
vices, manufacturing, marketing, business development, and administration. Nature refers to 
the economic characteristics, such as separating total revenue into wholesale revenues and re-
tail revenues, or disaggregating cost of sales into materials, labor, transport, and energy costs.1 


Chapter 3:  Income Statement—Question 1 


 Review	the	heading	of	your	company’s	income	statement.	Does	the	
	 company’s	income	statement	provide	two	or	three	years	of	comparative									 _____  years 
	 information?	(Insert	number	to	the	right.)


Why	do	you	think	the	SEC	requires	that	balance	sheets	provide	two	years	of	comparative	
financial	information	and	income	statements	provide	three	years	of	comparative	financial	
information?	
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 The nonoperating	section	of	the	income	statement	includes	income/expense	items	and	
gain/loss	items	that	are	routine	to	most	any	type	of	business	entity	but	that	are	peripheral	
to	day-to-day	business	operations.	Examples	include	interest	earned	on	investments,	interest	
incurred	on	borrowings,	and	gains	and/or	losses	associated	with	the	disposal	of	assets	and/or	
elimination	of	liabilities.	An	example	of	a	peripheral	activity	would	be	the	sale	of	a	piece	of	
equipment. If the equipment has a book value of $20,000 and is sold for $15,000, there is a 
realized	loss	of	$5,000.	While	the	loss	is	reported	on	the	income	statement,	it	is	recognized	in	
the nonoperating section under other expenses and losses.	This	loss	is	excluded	from	operating	
income because it is related to a support of business activity rather than to an operating  
business activity. 


	 The	sum	of	operating	income	(loss)	and	nonoperating	income	(loss)	is	simply	income 
(loss) before income tax expense.	Once	income	tax	expense	or	benefit	is	considered,	net	income	
(loss)	is	the	residual.	The	level	of	detail	disclosed	between	operating	income	and	net	income	
varies	among	companies.	When	evaluating	a	company	a	study	of	operating	income	from	one	
year	to	the	next	is	much	more	meaningful	than	a	study	of	net	income	from	one	year	to	 
the	next.	


Elements of the Income Statement


 As mentioned before, the income statement is often divided into two sections: operating 
and nonoperating. The operating section includes sales revenues, cost of goods sold,  
and	other	operating	expenses.


OPERATING SECTION


 Net Sales: Operating sections begin with net sales of goods and services. Net sales result 
when a company deducts from gross sales:


Chapter 3:  Income Statement—Question 2 


 Review	the	middle	section	of	your	company’s	income	statement.	Did	operating	income	
	 (loss)	increase	or	decrease	from	the	prior	year	and	by	how	much?	You	may	have	to	 
	 compute	operating	income	(loss).


Chapter 3:  Income Statement—Question 3 


 Does	the	middle	section	of	your	company’s	income	statement	show	a	nonoperating	
	 income	(loss)	increase	or	decrease	from	the	prior	year	and	by	how	much?	You	may	have	 
	 to	compute	nonoperating	income	(loss).


Increased	by	$ ____________________


Increased	by	$ ____________________


Decreased	by	$____________________


Decreased	by	$____________________
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	 •	 Cost	of	goods	returned	by	customers


	 •	 Cash	discounts	awarded	when	customers,	clients,	etc.	pay	within	the	discount	period


	 •	 Allowances	granted	to	customers	when	goods	or	services	are	defective


 These items generally are not disclosed in the annual report but are tracked for internal 
reporting purposes. 


 Cost of Merchandise Sold: Generally	the	most	significant	expense	reported	in	the	
income statement is the cost of goods. Cost of goods sold is recognized only when a sale of 
merchandise or services has taken place. Cost of goods sold as a percentage of net sales is an 
important measure of a firm’s performance. The percentage can be compared from year to 
year as well as across firms within an industry. 


 Gross Profit: The difference between net sales and cost of goods sold is a company’s gross 
profit,	or	gross	margin.	A	reported	gross	profit	is	essential	to	cover	operating	expenses	that	
a	company	incurs	during	the	operating	year.	Management’s	effective	control	over	inventory	
acquisition cost can lead to an improved or at least stable gross profit measure from one year 
to	the	next.


 Companies that report lower operating profits often have been quoted as saying, “Product 
price increases could not be passed along to the consumer in a timely manner.” Circumstances 
like these create a squeeze on gross margins that ultimately filters down to a company’s operat-
ing	income	(loss),	that	is,	the	bottom	line.	Many	times	price	increases	cannot	be	passed	along	
because	of	existing	market	conditions	such	as	an	economic	downturn.	Raising	prices	would	
simply create less product demand.


 Selling Expenses: Selling	expenses	directly	relate	to	the	selling	of	goods	and	services.	
Examples	are	advertising	and	the	sales	force’s	salary.	


 General and Administrative Expenses:	General	and	administrative	expenses	often	include	
a	variety	of	costs	that	relate	to	operations	other	than	sales.	For	example,	the	depreciation	 
of	a	company’s	corporate	headquarters	constitutes	a	general	and	administrative	expense.	 
Management	salaries,	utility	costs,	and	property	taxes	are	further	examples	 
of	general	and	administrative	expenses.	


 Operating Income:	The	difference	between	operating	revenues	and	operating	expenses	is	
operating income. Operating income is essentially the most useful measure of a company’s 
performance	from	one	year	to	the	next.	The	reason	for	this,	as	mentioned	before,	is	that	it	
excludes	nonoperating	gains	and	losses	that	can	distort	measures	of	performance.	


NONOPERATING SECTION


 Interest and Investment Income: Interest and investment income is earned and reported 
when a company invests in certificates of deposits, treasury bills or notes, or in the stocks and 
bonds of other companies. The success of these investments will be measured in the form 
of dividend, interest, or investment income. These returns will ultimately be reported on the 
company’s	income	statement	under	nonoperating	income	(expenses).	


 As an aside, institutions that report interest and investment income as a part of operations 
include banks and other financial institutions. Their business purpose is to attract capital at a 
predetermined cost, invest the acquired capital, and achieve a higher rate of return. Therefore, 
a financial institution’s gross profit is controlled by the percentage difference.








42


 Interest Expense: Interest is a payment that companies make for using another company’s 
money and is directly related to the passage of time. Interest is associated with a company’s 
notes, mortgages, and bonds or is embedded as part of a lease obligation or pension obliga-
tion.	In	most	cases,	a	company’s	long-term	liabilities	(and	some	short-term	liabilities	as	well)	
will	have	some	related	interest	expense.	Once	again,	however,	interest	expense	(and	revenue)	
falls outside operating income.


 Income Taxes: Most	corporations	are	responsible	for	a	variety	of	taxes.	These	can	include	
federal,	state,	and	foreign	income-tax	obligations.	Because	many	of	these	taxes	are	based	
on	revenue,	they	must	be	accrued	for	and	paid	in	a	timely	manner.	Income	tax	expense,	the	
number reported in the income statement, is essentially the federal statutory rate multiplied 
by	a	company’s	income	before	tax.	This	rate	varies,	depending	on	taxable	income	and	 
political	agenda.	The	number	is	further	adjusted	to	include	any	state	or	foreign	income	tax	
obligation	(or	income	tax	benefits).	Once	all	of	these	effects	are	considered,	income	tax	 
expense	is	reported.	Therefore,	income	tax	expense,	as	a	function	of	income	before	taxes,	 
can vary from year to year. 


 Net Earnings:	Net	earnings	(or	income)	are	often	referred	to	as	a	company’s	bottom line. 
Net earnings, as we have seen, remain after a company deducts operating and nonoperating 
expenses	from	operating	and	nonoperating	revenues.	A	company’s	net	profit	margin	is	often	
compared across years or across firms within the industry. 


Irregular Items


 Two items of special importance are also included in the conventional income statement 
but	are	reported	beyond	the	operating	and	non-operating	sections:	discontinued	operations	
and	extraordinary	events.	A	third	irregular	item,	changes	in	accounting	principles,	is	now	
accounted for with a direct adjustment to the balance sheet. Accounting professionals view 
these events as irregular items and generally prefer that their effects be removed from the 
main body of the income statement. 


DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS


	 One	of	the	most	often	occurring	irregular	items	is	the	gain/loss	associated	with	the	 
disposal	of	a	business	segment.	Just	as	many	companies	have	recently	expanded	operations	
through business acquisitions, many of these same companies have disposed of other 


Chapter 3:  Income Statement—Question 4 


 In	reference	to	why	you	are	studying	this	company,	is	it	important	to	know	the	different	
	 sources	of	income—operating	or	nonoperating?	
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operating	segments	along	the	way.	For	a	disposal	to	qualify	as	a	discontinued	operation,	the	
assets, results of operations, and activities of a business segment must be clearly distinguish-
able,	physically	and	operationally,	from	the	balance	of	the	enterprise.	The	following	excerpt	
from Sara Lee’s 2009 annual report illustrates the note disclosure that would help clarify a 
recognized	gain/loss	on	the	disposal	of	a	business	segment.


“Note	4	–	Discontinued	Operations:	There	were	no	financial	results	attribut-
able to discontinued operations in 2009. In 2008, the corporation disposed of 
its	Mexican	Meats	operation.	In	2007,	the	corporation	disposed	of	its	European	
Meats	and	Branded	Apparel	Americas/Asia	businesses.	The	results	of	these	 
businesses have been reported as discontinued operations.”


EXTRAORDINARY ITEMS


 A second irregular item that gets special accounting consideration under US GAAP but not 
under	IFRS	is	an	extraordinary	event.	An	extraordinary	item	is	a	transaction	or	event	that	is	
both unusual and is infrequent in occurrence, taking into account the environment in which 
the	company	operates.	For	example,	assume	two	companies	sustain	significant	flood	loss	dam-
age.	One	company	might	classify	the	loss	as	extraordinary,	yet	the	other	might	not.	Flood	loss	
sustained	by	an	enterprise	located	in	a	flood	plain	would	not	constitute	an	unusual	occurrence	
and	would	not	warrant	extraordinary	classification.	Nor	would	an	earthquake	loss	for	a	 
company	located	in	California	be	reported	as	extraordinary.	


 Another item, known as a corporate restructuring charge, may appear to be unusual or 
infrequent	but	is	still	reported	as	a	component	of	continuing	operations.	The	FASB	considers	
organizational restructuring a part of today’s normal business environment. However, restruc-
turing charges, if material, can be shown as a separate line item. Shown below is Sara Lee’s 2009 
annual	report	note	disclosure	for	restructuring	actions	taken	during	fiscal	years	2007-2009.


Note 5—Exit, Disposal and Restructuring Activities
The	following	is	a	summary	of	the	income	(expense)	associated	with	new	and	ongoing	actions….


Cost	of	Sales
	 Transformation	Charges—IT
Selling,	General	and	
	 Administrative	Expenses
	 	 Transformation	Charges—IT
	 	 Transformation/Accelerate	Charges
Net	Charges	for	(income	from)
	 	 Exit	Activities
	 	 Asset	and	Business	Dispositions
Reduction in income from continuing 
	 operations	before	taxes
Income	tax	benefit
Reduction in income from continuing 
 operations


	 $	 5


	 	 21
	 	 18


	 	 114
  ---


	 $	 158
	 $	 (43	)


	 $	 115


	 $	 8


	 	 40
  3


  39
  (1)


	 $	 89
	 $	 (31	)


	 $	 58


	 $	 10


	 	 42
	 	 67


	 	 106
  (12)


	 $	 213
	 $	 (77	)


	 $	 136


2009 2008 2007
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CHANGE OF ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLE


 A third irregular event that requires special accounting treatment but no longer affects 
the income statement	(ASC	250	-	SFAS	No.	154	pre-codification)	is	an	accounting principle 
change. A change in accounting principle results when a company voluntarily switches from 
one	generally	accepted	accounting	principle	to	another	or	when	the	FASB	issues	a	new	ac-
counting pronouncement. A change in an accounting principle often requires an adjustment 
to	specific	asset	or	liability	accounts,	as	well	as	an	adjustment	to	retained	earnings	(prior	
year	changes	where	necessary).	When	retained	earnings	are	adjusted	and	prior	years	financial	
statements are restated, the firm is applying “retrospective application.”  In the past, many of 
these accounting changes were accounted for under the “current approach” and the cumula-
tive effects were reported as a component of net income.


Importance of the Income Statement


 Creditors, employees, suppliers, investors, and others use the income statement. The re-
port serves as a measuring stick of how a company has performed, where it appears to  
be	heading,	and	what	future	cash	flows	are	likely	to	be.	The	first	question	most	users	want	 
answered	is	what	is	net	income?	Next,	they	want	to	know	how	that	figure	compares	to	the	
prior years.


Chapter 3:  Income Statement—Question 5 


 If	any	of	the	irregular	events	are	shown	on	your	company’s	income	statement,	describe	the		
	 nature	and	the	amount.	Select	the	most	current	year	affected	by	the	event	if	multiple	years	 
 are affected. 


Restructuring	charge?


Discontinued	operation?


Extraordinary	event?


 Irregular Event Amount Nature of the Change


Chapter 3:  Income Statement—Question 6 


 Review	the	lower	section	of	your	selected	company’s	income	statement.	Did	net	income	   
	 (loss)	increase	or	decrease	from	the	prior	year	and	by	how	much?	


Increased	by	$ ____________________ Decreased	by	$____________________
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	 Similar	to	the	balance	sheet,	a	common-sized	income	statement	provides	a	basic	structure	
for	asking	why	and	why	not	values	increased	or	decreased.	The	common-sized	income	state-
ment is standardized by net sales. 


Basic and Diluted Earnings per Share (BEPS and DEPS)


	 Earnings	per	common	share	must	be	computed	and	reported	by	all	publicly	traded	 
companies	in	their	corporate	annual	report	and	SEC	Form	10-K.	The	reason	for	this	is	that	
it measures performance on a per share basis and helps standardize earnings. Standardized 
earnings allow investors to compare two companies side by side without being unduly  
influenced	by	the	magnitude	of	earnings.	For	example,	if	Company	A	achieves	$5	billion	 
in net earnings while Company B achieves half that amount, Company A would appear to  
be more attractive as a shareholder investment. If, however, Company B had only half as 
many	shares	of	stock	outstanding	(held	by	shareholders),	Company	B’s	earnings	per	share	
would be equal to Company A’s.


Chapter 3:  Income Statement—Question 7 


 Prepare	a	common-sized	income	statement	for	the	categories	below.	


Net	Sales	(revenues)


Cost	of	Goods/Services	(if	applicable)


Gross	Profit	


Operating	Expenses	


Operating	Income	(Loss)


Nonoperating	Income	(Loss)


Income	Tax	Expense


Net	Income


    Increase 
  Current Prior or Decrease 
 Account/Category Year Year (current yr.% - prior yr. %)


Chapter 3:  Income Statment—Question 8 


 Identify	the	three	income	statement	accounts/categories	that	changed	the	most	in	
	 Question	7.	What	events	might	explain	these	changes?	


(Hint	–	the	MD&A	section	will	provide	good	 
information	to	answer	this	question.)


 Account or Category Explanation


100% 100%
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	 Because	of	a	variety	of	equity-related	instruments	that	exist	within	a	company’s	capital	
structure, companies are often required to report two measures of earnings per share.  
Examples	of	equity-related	instruments	that	may	lead	to	common	stock	include:


	 •	 Convertible	bonds	or	notes
	 •	 Convertible	preferred	stock
	 •	 Stock	options,	stock	warrants,	stock	units…


	 Each	of	these	instruments,	if	converted	into	common	stock	by	their	holders,	could	lower	
a company’s earnings per common share because the number of shares outstanding will 
increase. Therefore, accounting rules and the conservatism principle require companies to 
report two measures of per share performance: basic earnings per share and diluted earnings 
per share. The computation of diluted earnings per share considers the effect of converting  
all dilutive securities into common shares.


Chapter 3:  Income Statment—Question 9 


 Identify	your	company’s	Basic	and	Diluted	EPS	amounts.	Place	a	N/A	in	Diluted	EPS	if	
 not reported.


Current	year	


Preceding	year	1	


Preceding	year	2	 


Why	is	diluted	EPS	always	equal	to	or	less	than	basic	EPS?


  Basic EPS Diluted EPS
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Statement of Cash Flows (SCF)


Format of the SCF


	 The	statement	of	cash	flows	is	designed	to	measure	how	cash	flowed	into	and	out	of	the	
business	for	a	period	of	time.	Cash	flows	in	support	of	daily	operating	activities	are	labeled	
operating	cash	flows.	Cash	flows	associated	with	purchases	of	investments	and	sale	of	invest-
ments	are	labeled	investing	cash	flows.	Cash	flows	associated	with	financing	the	business	
through	stocks	and	bonds	are	labeled	financing	cash	flows.


Chapter 3:  SCF—Question 1 


 Is	the	SCF	dated	in	the	title	for	a	period	of	time	similar	to	the	income	statement	or	for	a
	 point	in	time	similar	to	the	balance	sheet?	Why?


Chapter 3:  SCF—Question 2 
	 Identify	the	following	sections	of	the	SCF	and	record	the	amounts.	Check	the	math	by	 
 summing to the cash balance at end of year.	Verify	that	the	ending	cash	balance	reported	
	 on	the	SCF	is	the	same	as	reported	on	the	balance	sheet.


Net	operating	cash	flows


Net	investing	cash	flows


Net	financing	cash	flows


Net	increase	(decrease)	in	cash	flows


Cash	balance	at	beginning	of	year


Cash	balance	at	end	of	year


Does	the	total	match	balance	sheet	cash?	 Yes	/	No	 Yes	/	No


  Current Prior Second 
 Section Year Year Prior Year
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Importance of the SCF


	 Two	methods	of	reporting	operating	cash	flows	are	allowed	by	generally	accepted	account-
ing	principles.	The	direct	method	computes	operating	cash	flows	similar	to	how	the	income	
statement	computes	earnings.	The	indirect	method	computes	operating	cash	flows	by	add-
ing	to	or	subtracting	from	net	income,	the	cash	flows	associated	with	daily	activities.	Each	
are	acceptable	under	US	GAAP	and	IFRS	reporting	rules.	The	indirect	method	is	followed	by	
most	companies	when	preparing	the	SCF.	Regardless	of	the	method	employed,	the	following	
questions	apply.	As	you	review	the	SCF,	note	that	interest	received	and	dividends	received	are	
reported	as	operating	cash	flows	under	US	GAAP	but	can	be	reported	as	operating	or	invest-
ing	cash	flows	under	IFRS.	Interest	paid	is	also	considered	an	operating	cash	flow	under	US	
GAAP	but	can	be	reported	as	an	operating	or	financing	cash	flow	under	IFRS.


Chapter 3:  SCF—Question 3 


 Record	net	sales,	net	income	and	net	operating	cash	flows	below.	All	three	should	be	
	 trending	in	approximately	the	same	direction.	If	so,	this	is	a	sign	of	a	well-run	business.		 
	 If	one	or	more	are	going	in	a	different	direction,	or	random,	then	you	must	keep	an	eye	 
	 open	for	an	explanation	why.		


Net	Sales		


Net	Income	


Net	Operating	Cash	Flows 


Explain	why	net	sales,	net	income	and	net	operating	cash	flows	are	trending	together	or	 
differently.	(Hint:	Look	at	depreciation	expense	and	substantial	changes	in	inventory,	accounts	
receivable	and	accounts	payable	balances.	Explaining	why	is	a	key	learning	point.)


 Item Current Year Prior Year Second Prior Year
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Chapter 3:  SCF—Question 4 
 Identify	the	primary	cash	outflows	and	inflows	from	investing	activities.


Chapter 3:  SCF—Question 5 
 Identify	the	primary	cash	inflow	and	outflow	from	financing	activities.


Cash	outflow:


Cash	inflow:


Consider	three	key	issues	at	this	point.	Is	the	company	adding	assets?	This	is	a	sign	of	growth.	 
Is	the	company	replacing	assets?	This	is	a	sign	of	growth	and	stability.	Is	the	company	only	 
selling	assets?	This	is	a	sign	of	retrenchment.	


Cash	inflow:


Cash	outflow:	(Note:	cash	dividends	paid	are	reported	here.)


Consider	two	key	issues	at	this	point.	How	is	the	company	being	financed,	through	debt	or	 
equity?	Can	you	determine	which	is	growing	faster	and	why?	A	sound	corporate	strategy	is	 
to	finance	a	company	with	debt	during	stable	times,	because	this	demands	regular	payment	 
of	principal	and	interest,	and	to	finance	a	company	with	equity	during	unstable	times,	because	
leadership can elect to pay or not pay dividends.  


 Description of Activity Amount


 Description of Activity Amount
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The Statement of Stockholders’ Equity (SSE)
	 The	statement	of	stockholders’	equity	(or	statement	of	change	in	stockholders’	equity)	
identifies	the	changes	in	all	balance	sheet	equity	accounts	over	a	specified	period.	For	this	
reason,	the	statement	is	titled,	for	example,	“fiscal	year	ended,	February	1,	2009”	Three	points	
are	noteworthy	about	the	statement	of	stockholders’	equity.	First,	as	in	the	statement	of	cash	
flows,	three	years	of	information	are	presented	in	the	report.	Second,	tucked	within	the	state-
ment of stockholders’ equity is a reconciliation of retained earnings from beginning balance 
to ending balance for the period. This reconciliation is a required disclosure and is identified 
as	the	fourth	required	financial	statement.	Third,	the	FASB	requires	that	significant	changes	 
in the equity accounts must be disclosed to include comprehensive income. The statement  


of stockholders’ equity fulfills this requirement. 


Importance of the Statement of Stockholders’ Equity


 Creditors and investors use this report to better understand the changes in a company’s 
equity	position	over	a	specific	period	of	time.	Keep	in	mind	that	this	category—stockholders’	
equity—presents	the	net	assets	of	a	company	(excess	of	assets	over	liabilities).	As	the	makeup	
of	assets	and	liabilities	changes	from	one	period	to	the	next,	so	will	stockholders’	equity.	The	
statement of stockholders’ equity, therefore, helps the user focus on the changes that occur.


	 In	general,	as	a	company	becomes	more	financially	complex,	a	statement	of	stockholders’	
equity	becomes	a	necessity	for	external	reporting.	In	their	infancy,	companies	have	few	events	
outside	of	earnings	and	dividends	that	affect	equity.	When	this	is	the	pattern,	a	stand-alone	
statement	of	retained	earnings	is	acceptable	for	external	reporting.	As	the	financial	structure	
becomes	more	complex	statements	of	stockholders’	equity	are	included	as	a	separate	sched-
ule, along with the three other financial statements in the corporate annual report. Occasion-
ally, the statement will be separately included in the notes to the financial statements.


Chapter 3:  SSE—Question 1 


 Identify	the	elements	that	comprise	the	statement	of	stockholders’	equity	section	of	your	
	 company.	Hint:	These	items	are	generally	illustrated	across	the	top	of	the	page	using	a	 
	 columnar	format.	(Example.	Common	stock	–	shares	and	dollar	amount.)
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Limitations


 The statement of stockholders’ equity has few limitations, simply because it is a summary  
financial	statement	used	to	explain	equity	changes.	Because	of	this,	the	statement	of	stock-
holders’	equity	is	not	well	suited	for	financial	analysis.	Most	relevant	equity	information	 
can be drawn specifically from the balance sheet stockholders’ equity section and the income 
statement.	One	exception	is	a	company’s	dividend	payments.	Dividend	distributions	are	not	
reported	in	the	balance	sheet;	they	fall	outside	the	income	statement.	However,	cash	dividend	
payments	can	be	located	within	the	financing	section	of	the	statement	of	cash	flows.


Notes to the Financial Statements
	 The	accounting	profession	has	adopted	the	full-disclosure	principle,	which	emphasizes	 
the	reporting	of	any	information	that	would	influence	the	judgment	of	an	informed	reader.	
Although	the	balance	sheet,	statement	of	operations,	and	statement	of	cash	flows	provide	
significant economic substance, additional clarification and amplification provided in the 
notes can improve the understanding of the financial statement information. Companies that 
provide	extensive	note	presentation	are	simply	complying	with	generally	accepted	account-
ing	principles	(GAAP),	and	in	certain	cases,	with	regulations	issued	by	the	SEC.	Notes	are	
essentially the means of clarifying what is being presented in the financial statements and are 
audited along with the general financial statements. In compliance with GAAP, you will find 
your company sporadically identifies the related note to the financial statements in the body 
of	the	balance	sheet	and/or	income	statement.	IFRS,	however,	require	that	the	elements


Chapter 3:  SSE—Question 2 


Identify the cash dividends per share. 


Determine	the	dividend	payout	percentage.	A	company’s	 
dividend	payout	percentage	is	computed	by	dividing	dividend	 
per	common	share	by	net income or earnings per common share. 
(Hint:	If	your	company	reported	a	net	loss	for	the	year,	the	answer	 
lacks	meaning.)		


Compute	dividend	yield.	A	company’s	dividend	yield	is	computed	 
by	dividing	dividend	per	common	share	by	market	price	per	 
common	share.	(Hint:	Use	the	current	per	share	price	for	your	 
selected	company.)


Is	your	company’s	dividend	yield	a	reasonable	return	given	current	market	conditions?	
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of the financial statements be shown with their related note number specifically, as illustrated 
in a section of the Heineken 2008 Annual Report income statement shown below.


 The broadest and most generally read note is the first, “Summary of Significant  
Accounting Policies”. Accounting policies are the accounting principles and methods used  
by	the	reporting	entity.	For	that	reason,	users	of	financial	information	can	look	to	this	note	 
to gain a general understanding of the business and related accounting applications and  
establish a framework for comparing two or more companies. 


 The following questions are based upon information generally included in Note #1  
Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and a selection of notes that are most common. 


	 Cash	is	one	of	the	most	important	elements	within	the	corporate	balance	sheet.	Without	
cash, a company is unable to meet its operational demands.


Chapter 3: Note to the Financial Statements—Question 1 


 How	does	your	company	define	“cash	and	cash	equivalents”?


Heineken N.V.,
Consolidated	Income	Statement	Excerpt 
For	the	year	ended	31	December	2008


Revenue
Other	income
Raw	materials,	consumables	and	services
Personnel	expenses
Amortization,	depreciation	and	impairments
Total expenses
Results from operating activities
Interest income 
Interest	expenses
Other	net	finance	expenses
Net	finance	expenses


	 	 5
	 	 8
  9
	 	 10
	 	 11
  


	 	 12
	 	 12
	 	 12
  
  


  


		 14,319
		 32
		 9,548
		 2,415
		 1,206
		 13,169
		 1,182
		 91
  (469)
  (107)
  (485)


		 11,245
		 28
		 7,320
		 1,951
		 638
		 9,909
		 1,364
		 64


NoteIn millions of EUR 2008 2007


(155)
(4)


(95)
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 Inventory consumes a substantial amount of company resources. How a company values 
inventory	affects	financial	performance	and	the	comparability	of	one	company	to	the	next.	 
US	GAAP	allows	multiple	cost	flow	assumptions	for	inventory	valuation	purposes.	These	 
include	LIFO,	FIFO,	weighted/moving	average	and	specific	identification.	IFRS,	however,	 
do	not	permit	the	use	of	the	LIFO	cost	flow	assumption	but	allow	inventory	to	be	written	 
up even if it were to be written down as a result of impairment. US GAAP does not permit  
a	subsequent	write-up.


	 Investments	in	equity	and	debt	securities	(also	referred	to	as	marketable	securities	in	many	
company	notes)	can	be	recorded	at	cost,	at	fair-market	value	(ASC	820	-	SFAS	No.	157	pre-
codification, defines fair value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value in generally 
accepted	accounting	principles,	and	expands	disclosures	about	fair	value	measurements),	or	
at amortized cost. The appropriate investment valuation model is based on its classification. 
Investments are generally categorized as trading investments, available-for-sale investments, or 
held-to-maturity investments. 


	 For	example,	equity	(other	companies’	stock)	investments	are	carried	at	cost	if	market	val-
ue	is	not	readily	determinable.	Alternatively,	they	can	be	carried	at	fair-market	value,	and	clas-
sified as trading or available for sale,	if	there	exists	a	ready	market	for	liquidation.	The	distinc-
tion between classes determines whether unrealized gains and losses will affect the income  
statement	(nonoperating	income)	in	a	given	period	or	whether	the	gains	and	losses	will	be	 
excluded	from	nonoperating	income	but	included	in	the	organization’s	stockholders’	equity.


	 Bond	investments,	by	contrast,	can	be	carried	at	cost	or	fair-market	value,	depending	on	
the investment’s classification. If management intends on holding the investment until the 
bonds	reach	maturity	(held-to-maturity	classification),	cost	or	amortized	cost	is	used	as	the	
basis	for	valuation.	Essentially,	this	requires	the	organization	to	carry	the	investment	at	cost	
through	maturity	and	not	adjust	to	fair-market	value	from	one	reporting	period	to	the	next.	 
If the debt investment is classified as trading or available for sale, the valuation model is  
similar	to	that	of	an	investment	in	equity	securities.	ASC	825	(SFAS	No.	159	pre-codification)	
permits entities to choose to measure many financial instruments and certain other items at 
fair value. The objective is to improve financial reporting by providing entities with the op-
portunity to mitigate volatility in reported earnings caused by measuring related assets and 
liabilities	differently	without	having	to	apply	complex	hedge	accounting	provisions.


Chapter 3:  Note to the Financial Statements—Question 2 


 How	does	your	company	value	its	“inventories”?	Explain	the	meaning	of	the	inventory	
	 valuation	method.	Are	domestic	and	international	inventories	valued	the	same?		 
 Service companies will typically not have inventory.
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	 The	Home	Depot’s	investments,	consisting	primarily	of	high-grade	debt	securities,	 
are recorded at fair value and are classified as available for sale. Therefore, unrealized gains 
and losses are recognized as a part of other comprehensive income and reported in stock-
holders’ equity.


	 All	companies	are	required	to	comply	with	the	Internal	Revenue	Code	(IRC).	The	 
determination	of	expenses	and	revenues	differs	between	GAAP	and	the	IRC.	Many	of	these	
differences	are	temporary	(timing	differences)	and	subsequently	create	deferred	tax	assets	
(future	tax	benefits)	or	deferred	tax	liabilities	(future	tax	obligations).	As	a	result,	a	company’s	
deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	can	change	over	time	as	changes	in	income	tax	rates	are	
enacted.	Deferred	tax	assets	and	liabilities	are	reported	as	current	and	noncurrent	under	US	
GAAP	but	only	as	noncurrent	under	IFRS	reporting	rules.	A	separate	disclosure	in	the	notes	 
to the financial statements addresses the timing differences.


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 3 


 Does	your	company	report	any	investments	in	marketable	securities?	Identify	the	
	 respective	amount(s)	invested.	


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 4 


 Note	#1	and	a	separate	note	on	income	taxes	should	provide	the	information	to	answer	
	 this	question.	


Trading	Securities


Available-for-Sale	Securities


Held-to-Maturity	Debt	Securities


What	was	your	company’s	income	tax	 
expense	for	the	current	year?	


How	much	cash	was	paid	for	income	taxes	 
in	the	current	year?	(Hint:	Review	the	SCF.	
The	difference	generally	relates	to	the	 
accrual	basis	of	accounting.)


Identify	the	three	major	elements,	such	as	depreciation	or	other	post	employment	 
benefits,	that	gave	rise	to	deferred	tax	assets	or	deferred	tax	liabilities:


 Category  Current Year Amount


 Deferred Tax Assets  Deferred Tax Liabilities
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	 Most	companies	have	a	significant	investment	in	fixed	assets.	Therefore,	any	information	
regarding	depreciation	methods	employed	and	estimated	lives	of	fixed	assets	is	essential	to	a	
user	of	reported	financial	information.	It	helps	the	user	identify	the	approximate	age	of	assets.	


	 A	straight-line	method	to	allocate	depreciation	cost	for	buildings,	furniture,	fixtures,	and	
equipment is common. Leasehold improvements are recorded on the balance sheet when  
a company modifies a leased asset for any reason and are written off over the term of the lease 
or	the	life	of	the	improvement,	whichever	is	shorter.	A	straight-line	approach	creates	a	consis-
tent	depreciation	and	amortization	charge	against	earnings	from	one	year	to	the	next.	


	 Historically,	the	amortization	of	goodwill	(excess	of	purchase	price	over	fair	value	of	assets	
acquired)	has	resulted	in	an	annual	charge	against	earnings	for	affected	companies.	However,	
ASC	805	(SFAS	No.	141	pre-codification)	requires	companies	to	no	longer	write	off	goodwill	
unless	the	asset	becomes	impaired	(future	benefits	are	not	expected	to	be	realized).	As	a	result,	
companies	no	longer	report	a	systematic	write-off	of	goodwill	in	the	financial	statements.	


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 5 


 Reviewing	note	#1,	any	related	supporting	notes,	and/or	the	10-K,	identify	the	fixed	asset	  
	 group(s),	depreciation	methods	used,	and	the	estimated	useful	lives	of	these	fixed	assets.


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 6 


 Review	the	balance	sheet,	note	#1,	and	any	related	notes	and	identify	the	amount	of	
 goodwill reported in the current year.


What	is	this	year’s	effective	tax	rate	for	 
your	company?		What	is	the	current	year	
statutory	rate?


Amount	reported	in	current	year.


Identify	the	amount	of	any	significant	write-down	of	
goodwill that occurred during the current year.


Effective	Tax	Rate:	______%
Statutory	Tax	Rate:	______%


$	___________


$	___________


 Fixed Asset Group Depreciation Method Estimated Lives (range)
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	 Many	companies	issue	stock	options	(grant	the	holder	the	right	to	purchase	company	
stock	at	a	predetermined	price	for	a	specified	period	of	time)	to	valuable	employees.	Stock	
options	are	essentially	a	form	of	compensation	expense.	Companies	are	required	to	adhere	to	
ASC	718	(SFAS	No.	123r	pre-codification)	and	apply	the	fair-value	approach	when	measur-
ing	stock	compensation.	Under	this	method,	an	option-pricing	model	(or	some	other	op-
tion	valuation	technique)	determines	the	fair	value	of	the	option.	The	option’s	value	is	then	
compared	to	the	market	price	of	the	stock	and,	if	greater,	compensation	expense	is	reported	
by	the	company.	Generally,	compensation	expense	is	spread	out	over	a	predetermined	vest-
ing	(or	service)	period.	In	the	past,	most	companies	used	a	less	conservative	method,	known	
as	the	intrinsic	value	approach	(based	upon	Accounting	Principle	Board	(APB)	Opinion	No.	
25).	Under	APBO	No.	25,	corporations	measured	compensation	expense	as	the	excess	of	the	
market	price	of	the	stock	over	the	exercise	price	on	the	date	the	corporation	grants	the	option	
(known	as	in-the-money	options).	


	 Many	companies	(known	as	lessees)	choose	to	lease	fixed	assets	rather	than	purchase	
them. Depending on the agreement, the lease can be classified as an operating lease or a 
capital lease. If a company classifies a lease as operating, no leased assets or lease liabilities 
will be reported in the balance sheet. This method of off-balance-sheet financing often avoids 
the recognition of a significant lease liability. The purpose of a financial statement lease note, 
therefore, is to enhance the quality of lease disclosures. This is accomplished by providing a 
schedule of future minimum lease payments under both capital and operating leases at the 
close of the year. Note that there is the assumption that a new lease standard will be adopted 
by	the	joint	Board’s	of	the	IASB	and	FASB	by	2012,	requiring	the	capitalization	of	all	operat-
ing	leases.	Currently,	under	US	GAAP,	leases	are	capitalized	when	certain	criteria	are	met.	IFRS	
require	capitalization	of	leases	using	a	more	“substance-over-form”	approach	with	less	specific	
criteria being considered.


How	does	management	describe	how	it	accounts	for	goodwill	as	disclosed	in	the	note(s)	 
to	the	financial	statements?	


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 7 


 Given	present	executive	compensation	packages,	why	would	the	user	of	financial	
	 information	prefer	a	company	follow	ASC	718	instead	of	APBO	No.	25?	Explain.
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	 A	lease	financial	note	disclosure	provides	two	important	benefits.	First,	it	allows	the	user	 
to better understand a company’s unreported operating lease obligations and related maturity. 
Second, it gives analysts the opportunity to compute certain ratios under the assumption that 
all operating leases are capital leases. 


 Note that on the other side of these lease agreements are companies that supply the leased 
assets	(known	as	lessors).	These	companies	would,	therefore,	report	lease	receivables	rather	
than	lease	liabilities	on	their	balance	sheet.	General	Motors	Corporation	would	be	considered	
a lessor rather than a lessee.


	 The	purpose	of	a	separate	note	on	long-term	debt	is	to	enhance	the	quality	of	the	debt	
information	provided	in	the	balance	sheet.	A	balance	sheet	line	item	that	identifies	long-term	
debt	of	$1.545	billion,	for	example,	is	relevant	but	simply	limited	in	use.	Additional	informa-
tion regarding the type of debt, its related maturity structure, and its carrying value needs to  
be provided by management. Supplemental information found in a separate note allows  
users to better understand a company’s liquidity and solvency position. 


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 9 


 Review	your	company’s	long-term	debt	note	and	identify	the	following	(consider	the	three	
	 most	significant	liabilities	only):


 Instrument Maturity Date Rate Amount Due


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 8 


 Review	your	company’s	lease	note	(and	related	balance	sheet	information),	then	identify	
	 the	following	amounts:


Minimum	lease	payments	under	operating	leases


Minimum	lease	payments	under	capital	leases


Ratio of operating lease payments to capital  
lease payments


How	much	interest	expense	was 
recognized	in	the	current	year?


As	a	user	of	reported	financial	information,	would	you	be	concerned	about	a	significant	amount	
of	operating	leases	that	are	not	reported	in	the	balance	sheet?	Explain.
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	 Many	companies	provide	to	employees	pension	and	health-care	benefits	(such	as	medical	
and	dental	plans)	upon	retirement.	Generally,	these	employee	benefits	are	not	earned	until	
the employee has been with the company for a number of years, known as a vesting period. 


	 With	the	passage	of	the	SOX	Act,	the	Securities	and	Exchange	Commission		and	the	 
Financial	Accounting	Standards	Board	(FASB)	have	become	more	aggressive	in	their	study	 
of	other	off-balance	sheet	accounting	techniques.2	For	example,	the	FASB	issued	SFAS	No.	
158	(now	ASC	715)	“Employers’ Accounting for Defined Benefit Pension and Other Postretirement 
Plans”3  whereby companies are now required to measure plan assets and benefit obligations 
as	of	the	date	of	the	employer’s	fiscal	year-end	statement	of	financial	position.	As	a	result,	
a	company	records	a	liability	(or	asset	in	some	cases)	based	upon	the	funding	status	of	the	
plan. The Board believes that this statement results in financial statements that are more com-
plete	because	it	requires	an	employer	that	sponsors	a	single-employer	defined	benefit	post-
retirement plan to report the overfunded or underfunded status of the plan in its statement 
of	financial	position	rather	than	in	the	notes.	Interesting,	IFRS	does	not	require	companies	
to report a funding status asset or liability. Current international reporting follows US GAAP 
reporting	prior	to	the	issuance	of	SFAS	No.158.	SFAS	No.158	became	effective	for	fiscal	 
years ending after December 15, 2008.


	 Obligations	relating	to	pension	plans	and	other	post-employment	benefit	(OPEB)	pro-
grams	are	reported	under	long-term	liabilities	as	accrued	pension	cost	obligation	or	accrued	
other	post-employment	benefit	obligation.	You	may	encounter	the	following	terminology.	


	 •	 Projected benefit obligation (PBO): The actuarial present value of employee benefits 
  earned using projected salary levels and present years of service. An accumulated  
	 	 postretirement	benefit	obligation	(APBO)	is	reported	for	OPEB.


	 •	 Pension or OPEB plan assets: Assets placed in trust by the company, invested, and 
	 	 then	distributed	to	employees	upon	retirement.	Their	value	fluctuates	with	the	stock	 
  market and the economy. As benefit distributions are made, the projected benefit  
  obligation decreases.


	 •	 Prepaid (accrued) benefit cost: The	pension	or	OPEB	asset	or	liability	being	reported	
  in the balance sheet. 


	 •	 Net pension or OPEB cost: The	pension	or	OPEB	expense	for	the	current	reporting	year.


2 Office	of	the	Chief	Accountant,	Office	of	Economic	Analysis,	Division	of	Corporate	Finance,	United	States	Securities	and	Exchange	
	 Commission,	“Report	and	Recommendations	Pursuant	to	Section	401(c)	of	the	Sarbanes-Oxley	Act	of	2002	On	Arrangements	with 
	 Off-Balance	Sheet	Implications,	Special	Purpose	Entities	and	Transparency	of	Filings	by	Issuers”,	June	2005.


3 Financial	Accounting	Standards	Board,	FAS	158	“Employers’	Accounting	for	Defined	Benefit	Pension	and	Other	Postretirement	
	 Plans,	FASB,	Norwalk,	Connecticut,	September	2006.


How much cash was paid for interest in the 
current	year?	(Hint:	Look	in	the	SCF.*)


*The	difference	between	interest	expense	and	cash	paid	for	interest	is	due	to	the	 
accrual	basis	of	accounting	(and	in	some	cases,	the	capitalization	of	interest).
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 Contingent liabilities often involve the reporting of pending or threatened litigation.  
Often, these cases can include hundreds or even thousands of plaintiffs. The outcome of  
these	cases,	as	one	would	expect,	can	seldom	be	predicted	with	any	degree	of	certainty.	


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 10 


 Review	your	company’s	pension	and	OPEB	note	(if	applicable)	and	answer	the	following	
	 questions.


Rate	employed?	________	 Response:


An	expected	average	return	on	invested	plan	assets	is	used	to	reduce	the	volatility	in	the	
reporting	of	pension	or	OPEB	expense.	Higher	expected	average	returns	reduce	pension	or	
OPEB	expense,	and	lower	expected	returns	increase	pension	expense.	What	rate	of	return	on	
plan	assets	does	your	company	use	to	compute	pension	or	OPEB	expense?	Does	this	appear	
reasonable,	given	present	market	conditions?


How	much	is	the	Projected	Benefit	 
Obligation	(PBO)	and	Accumulated	Post-
retirement	Benefit	Obligation	(APBO)	 
for your company at the  
end	of	the	current	year?


What	was	the	amount	of	pension	 
or	OPEB	benefits	paid	to	plan	 
participants	during	the	current	year?	


What	amount	of	cash	did	the	 
company	contribute	to	the	respective	
funds	during	the	current	year?	This	is	
known	as	“employer	contributions.”


What	is	the	value	of	the	plan	assets	at	
the	end	of	the	current	year?


Based	on	your	review	of	the	plan	assets	and	the	projected	benefit	obligation	(or	accumulated	
postretirement	benefit	obligation),	has	your	company	sufficiently	funded	its	employee	benefit	
plans	(this	is	known	as	funded	status)?	


  Pensions OPEB
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Nonetheless, companies must evaluate the probability of the claims being asserted and the 
probability of an unfavorable outcome. If the loss is “probable” and “estimable,” then the 
company should accrue for a loss contingency. Ordinarily companies, including The Home 
Depot,	state,	“The	litigation	is	not	expected	to	materially	affect	the	consolidated	results	of	
operations or financial position.” 


	 ASC	280	(SFAS	No.	131	pre-codification)	establishes	standards	for	reporting	information	
about operating segments in annual financial statements. It also requires additional disclo-
sure about products and services and geographical areas. According to the standard, operating 
segments are defined as components of an enterprise where separate financial information 
is	available	and	evaluated	regularly	by	the	chief	operating	decision-maker.	Typical	informa-
tion includes quantitative disclosures whereby each reportable operating segment identifies 
total assets and a measure of profit or loss as well as well as separately disclosed geographical 
revenues	generated	from	external	customers	from	the	entity’s	country	of	domicile	and	from	
all foreign countries  


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 11 


 Based	on	your	review	of	the	contingencies	note,	briefly	identify	specific events that have 
	 led	to	the	accrual	of	contingent	liabilities	in	your	selected	company’s	balance	sheet.


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 12 


 Based	on	your	review	of	the	segment-reporting	note	to	the	financials,	identify	the	reported	
	 operating	segments,	their	related	revenues,	and	operating	income.	Identify	the	largest	three	 
 if more than three are disclosed.


 Reportable Operating Segments Net Sales Revenue Net Operating Income
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 In order to provide a more complete measure of financial performance, companies are  
required to compute a measure known as comprehensive income.	SFAS	No.	130,	“Reporting	
Comprehensive	Income,”	(now	ASC	220)	establishes	standards	for	reporting	and	displaying	
comprehensive income and its components in a financial statement that is displayed with 
the same prominence as other financial statements. In short, comprehensive income includes 
not just net income but also other comprehensive income. Components of other comprehensive 
income will include, if applicable, unrealized gains and losses on available for sale securities, 
certain gains and losses on derivative financial instruments, foreign currency translation ad-
justments,	and	the	funding	status	of	postretirement	benefit	plans.	IFRS	illustrates	comprehen-
sive	income	within	a	Statement	of	Recognized	Income	and	Expense	(SoRIE).


Wrap-up
 You have now completed a careful study of the company’s financial statements and related 
notes. This study, along with Chapters 1 and 2, has provided the building blocks necessary 
to	help	you	understand	annual	report	information.	In	Chapter	4,	you	will	use	these	building	
blocks	and	complete	a	systematic	company	financial	analysis.	As	you	work	through	Chapter	4,	
keep in mind why you are investigating the company and the company’s strategic focus.


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 13 


 Based	on	your	review	of	the	segment-reporting	note	to	the	financials,	identify	the	
 geographical segments and their related revenues. Identify the largest three if more  
 than three are disclosed.


 Country Net Sales Revenue


Chapter 3:  Notes to the Financial Statements—Question 14 


 Based	on	your	review	of	the	notes	to	the	financials	or	the	statement	of	stockholders’	
	 equity,	identify	the	components	(no	more	than	four)	that	comprise	Other	Comprehensive	 
 Income for your company.


 Component Amount








CHAPTER 4:  financial analysis


    he final steps in this annual report project require you to gather and systematically
   evaluate selective measures.  You will gather selective financial measures from 
   www.money.msn.com. 


	 	 	 Evaluating	the	financial	performance	of	your	company	consists	of	interpreting	 
current measures compared to prior years and industry benchmarks. The following steps 
systematically	work	you	through	a	financial	analysis.	Keep	in	mind	your	company’s	overall	
strategy as you complete this chapter and answer questions.   


Gathering Your Company Data
	 • Go to: www.money.msn.com


	 • Select from the menu: Investing 


  – Input your company’s symbols in the “Name or Symbol(s)”	box	and	enter.


	 • Select “Print Report”. You will find this immediately above the company name. 


	 •	 Check	the	following	boxes:		“Key Ratios, Income Statement Annual, Balance 
  Sheet Annual and Cash Flow Annual.”		These	boxes	are	in	the	lower	portion	of	
	 	 the	page.	Feel	free	to	explore	and	see	all	the	information	that	is	readily	available.	


	 • Select “Generate Report.”			We	suggest	you	print	this	report	to	see	all	of	the	
  information including column headings. Notice the company financial measures  
  are present with the most recent year in the first column of values.  


The report generated consists of several financial measures. Use this report to complete  
the	Summary	Financial	Analysis	Report	located	on	the	following	pages	of	this	workbook.    


Steps to Complete the Summary Financial Analysis Report


	 A.	 Begin	by	recording	measures	into	the	Summary	Financial	Report	located	on	the	 
  following pages of this workbook. Record Company, Industry, and S&P 500 values 
	 	 as	specified	in	the	Summary	Financial	Analysis	Report.	Company	measures	are		 	 	
  based on the latest 12 months’ results and represent the most recent performance  
  measures.  


 B. Compute and record the specific measures for the previous two years into the  
	 	 Summary	Financial	Analysis	Report.	The	definition	for	each	measure	is	identified	 
  immediately to the right of the measure name. The easiest way to complete this  
	 	 task	is	to	cut	and	paste	the	financial	statements	into	Excel	and	compute	the	ratios.	 
	 	 A	*	in	the	Summary	Financial	Analysis	Report	box	indicates	this	measure	is	 
  available at the bottom of the Key Ratios reported generated. 


If you recomputed the Company measures using the definition provided, a difference 
may result. The reported Company measures are based on the latest 12 months’ or 
quarterly results.
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Profit Margin% 


Answers how well the 
business performed.


Gross 
Margin


Pre-Tax 
Margin


Net	Profit 
Margin


Sales 


Operating 
Income


Operating 
Cash	Flow


Gross	Profit/ 
Total	Revenue


Operating	Income/
Total	Revenue


Net	Income/ 
Total	Revenue


Financial 
Statement


Financial 
Statement


Financial 
Statement


Evaluate Profitability	(Think	about	the	corporate	strategy	in	providing	a	response.	Following	
are	general	guidelines,	yet	each	company	situation	is	unique.	For	a	company	with	a	growth	 
strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	increasing	performance,	above	or	below	industry	average.	 
For	a	company	with	a	stability	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	stable	performance,	above	 
or	below	industry	average.	For	a	company	in	a	retrenchment	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	 
find	poor	performance,	below	industry	average	with	efforts	to	improve	and	approach	industry	 
average.	Note:	Sales,	operating	income	and	operating	cash	flows	should	trend	in	approximately	
the	same	direction.	This	signals	a	stable	operating	business	environment.	If	the	three	measures	
are	not	trending	together,	this	signals	lack	of	control	by	management.)	


 Company Company 
 Two Year One Year Company Industry S&P 500 
 Prior Prior


Not required


Not required


Not required


Not required


Not required


Not required


* *
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Financial Condition 


Signals ability to take  
on additional debt  
and liquidity.


Debt/ 
Equity 
Ration


Current 
Ratio


 
 
 


Quick 
Ratio 


 
 


Interest 
Coverage


(Total	Liabilities– 
Current	Liabilities)/ 


Total	Equity


Current	Assets/ 
Current	Liabilities


(Cash	and	Short 
Term	Investments 


+ 
Short	Term 


Investments + 
Total	Receivables, 


Net)/Current 
Liabilities


Data	not	readily 
available


Evaluate Financial Condition	(often	labeled	liquidity	and	solvency	analysis)	(Think	about	the	
corporate	strategy	in	providing	a	response.	Following	are	general	guidelines,	yet	each	company	
situation	is	unique.	For	a	company	with	a	growth	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	stable	or	
slightly	decreasing	liquidity,	above	or	below	industry	average.		Debt	to	equity	often	is	increasing	
in	a	growing	company.	For	a	company	with	a	stability	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	stable	
liquidity,	above	or	below	industry	average.	Debt	to	equity	often	is	stable	as	well.	For	a	company	
with	a	retrenchment	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	poor	liquidity,	below	industry	average	 
with	efforts	to	improve	and	approach	industry	liquidity.	Debt	to	equity	often	is	decreasing	in	 
a	company	during	retrenchment.)


 Company Company 
 Two Year One Year Company Industry S&P 500 
 Prior Prior


*


*


*


*
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Investment Return % 


Signals performance for 
managers and owners.


Return	On 
Equity


Return	On 
Assets


Return	On 
Equity 
(5-Year 
Avg.)


Return	On 
Assets 
(5-Year 
Avg.)


Net	Income/ 
Total	Equity


Net	Income/ 
Total	Assets


Evaluate Investment Return	(Think	about	the	corporate	strategy	in	providing	a	response.	
Following	are	general	guidelines,	yet	each	company	situation	is	unique.	For	a	company	with	 
a	growth	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	increasing	returns.	For	a	company	with	a	stability	
strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	stable	investment	returns.	For	a	company	in	a	retrenchment	
strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	poor	and	stable	investment	solvency,	below	industry	average.)


 Company Company 
 Two Year One Year Company Industry S&P 500 
 Prior Prior


Not required


Not required


Not required


Not required


*


*


*


*
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Management Efficiency 


Signals how well the 
company was run by 
management.


Income/ 
Employee


Revenue/ 
Employee


 
Receivable 
Turnover 


 


 
Inventory 
Turnover 


Asset 
Turnover


Average	is	defined:		(beginning	of	the	year	+	end	of	the	year)/2


 


 


Total	Revenue/ 
Average	Accounts 


Receivable– 
Trade,	Net 


Cost	of 
Revenue,	Total/ 
Average	Total 


Inventory


Total	Revenue/ 
Average	Total 


Assets


Evaluate Management Efficiency	(Think	about	the	corporate	strategy	in	providing	a	response.	
Following	are	general	guidelines,	yet	each	company	situation	is	unique.	For	a	company	with	a	
growth	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	improving	efficiency,	above	or	below	industry	average.	
For	a	company	with	a	stability	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	stable	efficiency,	above	or	 
below	industry	average.	For	a	company	in	a	retrenchment	strategic	focus	you	will	likely	find	 
poor	efficiency,	below	industry	average	with	efforts	to	improve	and	approach	industry	average.)


 Company Company 
 Two Year One Year Company Industry S&P 500 
 Prior Prior


Not required


Not required


Not required


Not required
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Chapter 5: Decision Making Process—Question 1 


 Based	upon	your	review,	do	the	numbers	support	the	company’s	explicit	strategic	focus:	
	 a	growth,	stability	or	retrenchment	focus?	Why	or	why	not?


CHAPTER 5:  decision-making process


Now you must make two decisions. 
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Chapter 5:  Decision-Making Process—Question 2 
Return	to	the	first	question	in	this	project.


 Chapter 1:  Identify Why You Selected This Company—Question 1


 A)	 What	is/are	your	motivation(s)	or	interest(s)	in	selecting	this	company?


	 B)	 What	question(s)	are	you	seeking	to	answer?


You	were	asked	to	explain	why	you	were	investigating	this	company’s	annual	report.	You	 
have	likely	uncovered	numerous	pieces	of	information,	some	with	conflicting	insight.	This	may	
involve	both	financial	and	nonfinancial	information.	In	addition,	you	may	have	found	certain	
information	to	be	incomplete	for	decision-making	purposes.	This	is	real	world	analysis.	Most	
business	decisions	are	made	with	as	much	reliable	information	as	possible,	yet	common	to	 
the	decision-maker	is	a	desire	for	more	information.	


Prepare	a	thorough,	yet	concise	answer	to	your	original	questions	A	and	B	above.	For	example,	
would	you	work	for	this	company,	why	or	why	not?	Support	your	response	with	the	information	
gathered throughout your annual report study.
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Chapter 5:  Validate Your Conclusion—Question 1 


The	Altman	Z-score	is	a	predictive	model	created	by	Edward	Altman	in	the	1960’s.	The	score	
combines	and	weights	five	financial	ratios	to	estimate	the	likelihood	of	a	company	going	 
bankrupt.	The	lower	the	Altman	Z-score	the	higher	the	odds	of	bankruptcy.	Research	findings	
suggest	the	Z-score	predicts	72	-	80%	of	corporate	bankruptcies	two	years	prior	to	the	 
actual	filing.


 •	 Z-score	>	than	3	=	considered	healthy


	 •	 Z-score	between	1.8	and	3	=	considered	a	warning	sign


	 •	 Z-score	<	than	1.8	=	could	be	headed	for	bankruptcy


Computing	the	Z-score	for	your	company	is	very	simple.	Go	to	one	of	the	Websites	listed	 
below	and	compute	the	Z-scores	for	the	respective	years	identified	below.	Print	out	your	results	
and	turn	them	in	with	this	workbook.


	 •	 www.jaxworks.com/calc2a.htm


	 •	 www.ironwoodadvisory.com/zscore.htm


Z-score 


Z-score	interpretation	compared	to	the	financial	analysis.	Does	the	Z-score	agree	 
or	disagree	with	your	analysis?


 Two Year Prior One Year Prior Current Year
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Concluding Comments


 The skills developed in this project should serve you well throughout your business  
career. The reporting content and methodologies for publicly traded companies will likely 
evolve.	This	is	a	natural	sequence	of	events	under	competitive	pressures	and	complex	busi-
ness conditions. Change, however, does not disrupt rigorous and systematic company analy-
sis. This workbook provides the structure to analyze any company. Regardless of the annual 
report reporting environment, learning about the industry, the company, and the company’s 
strategic focus and financial condition helps you formulate a comprehensive set of indicators 
to make a valid business decision. 


Congratulations
Now submit to your instructor your completed workbook.


 Complete the following before you submit your assignment. This step is required to  
validate your compliance with sections 107 or 108 of the 1976 United States Copyright Act. 


  1. Remove the front cover of the workbook and identify: 


   Name:  _____________________________________________________


   Term:  _____________________________________________________ 


   Company:  _____________________________________________________ 


   Instructor:  _____________________________________________________ 


  2. Print out your completed electronic template.


  3. Attach the following: 


	 	 	 •	 Front	cover	(completed)	


	 	 	 •	 Electronic	solution	template	


	 	 	 •	 Printed	reports	as	specified	by	the	instructions	that	immediately	 
	 	 	 	 follow	Chapter	1:	Select	a	Company	and	Gather	Documents—Question	1








Notes:








introduction to the


corporate annual report:
A Business Application with IFRS Content


This project makes the study of accounting and business, using  


the corporate annual report, a fun learning experience. Students 


become engaged in the learning process using accounting and 


non-financial information to make business decisions.


Noteworthy features:
	 •	 Student	driven	learning
	 •	 Suitable	for	graduate	and	undergraduate 
  accounting and finance students
	 •	 Flexible	for	use	as	a	stand	alone	workbook 
  or integrated with a textbook


Student comments:
  This project helped me to carefully read annual reports 
  and better understand company performance.


  This project really gives a student hands-on experience  
  on how to read and comprehend annual reports and,  
  more importantly, develop a decision about them.


  I feel that this project was not only a great classroom 
  learning experience but an exceptional tool that will 
  certainly serve me well in the field of business.


3rd edition


Copyright 2012 by Applied Accounting Analytics. All rights reserved. Reproduction  
or translation of this book beyond that permitted by the applicable copyright law without 
Applied Accounting Analytics’ permission is prohibited. Requests for permission to reprint 
or for further information should be directed to [email protected] or [email protected].
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